

Hans Christian August Eickhoff

# IMPACT OF BARIATRIC SURGERY ON CONTROL OF TYPE 2 DIABETES — NEUROENDOCRINE MECHANISMS AND CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

Doctoral Thesis in Health Sciences, branch of Medicine, speciality in Surgery (Surgery), supervised by Professor Doutor Francisco José Franqueira de Castro e Sousa, MD, PhD, and presented to the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra

2014



UNIVERSIDADE DE COIMBRA

## IMPACT OF BARIATRIC SURGERY ON CONTROL OF TYPE 2 DIABETES – NEUROENDOCRINE MECHANISMS AND CLINICAL SIGNIFICANCE

O IMPACTO DA CIRURGIA BARIÁTRICA NO CONTROLO DA DIABETES TIPO 2 – MECANISMOS NEURO-ENDÓCRINOS E IMPLICAÇÕES CLÍNICAS

Doctoral Thesis in Health Sciences, branch of Medicine, speciality in Surgery (Surgery), supervised by Professor Doutor Francisco José Franqueira de Castro e Sousa, MD, PhD, and presented to the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra

Coimbra, 2014

All experimental research was conducted at the Laboratory for Experimental Research, the Institute of Physiology, and the Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences (IBILI), Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal. The clinical study was accomplished at the Obesity Center of Hospital de Santiago, Setúbal, Portugal.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A comprehensive endeavor like the present research project would not have been possible to accomplish without the support of many others. First, I shall thank my parents for the caring encouragement and intellectual stimulus that they always were able to provide. Thus, they helped me to build up a healthy dose of self-confidence and critical spirit to permit persevering even on difficult trails but also receding where following an erroneous judgment.

When personal circumstances led my life path to the far southwest of Europe, I was lucky enough to meet a friend and mentor in the person of Professor Francisco Castro e Sousa. His open mindset and superior qualities as a teacher and surgeon gave me the opportunity to develop my technical skills and general competence in my field of practice. Later, he encouraged me to pursue my present doctoral project and accepted to be my supervisor. I shall thank him not only for the solid surgical training and for the knowledgeable support of my research work that he provided for, but also for his friendship and advice.

During my residency at the 3<sup>rd</sup> Surgical Department of the University Hospitals of Coimbra, I had the gratifying opportunity to learn from many distinct surgeons and other colleagues, in particular the supervisor of my residency, Dr. Xavier da Cunha, as well as Dr. Gouveia e Melo, Senior Consultant in charge of one of the wards. They contributed decisively to my technical preparation and reinforced the rigor and standards that are indispensable for clinical practice. I also thank the other staff surgeons, Dr. José David Gomes, Dr. Canaveira Manso, Professor Júlio Leite, Dr. Hélder Carvalho, Dr. António Milheiro, and Dr. Carlos Mesquita for practical training and guidance provided. Last, but not least, I thank the companionship and spirit of mutual support of my colleagues in residency, in particular Dra. M<sup>a</sup> Gorete Jorge, Professor Guilherme Tralhão, Dra. Beatriz Costa, and Dr. Alexandre Monteiro.

To many colleagues and fellow surgeons I owe thanks for encouraging me in my clinical practice and scientific work through their friendship, inspiration, and technical knowledge. I thank in particular Dr. Rocha Rigueira, Dr. Pedro Gomes, and Professor Costa Almeida (Hospital dos Covões, Coimbra), Professor Felix Harder (Basel), Professor Michael Trede (Mannheim), Dr. Hélder Neves and Dr. José Travassos (Hospital do Espírito Santo, Évora), as well as Dr. César Resende and Dr. Carlos Vaz (Hospital da Luz, Lisbon).

When I outlined my doctoral research project, I was introduced to Professor Raquel Seiça, Head of the Institute of Physiology of the University of Coimbra, and experienced researcher in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes in animal models. I thank her for inspiration, guidance and practical support through all the steps of my research work and the final outline of my thesis. Special thanks to all the team at the facilities of the Institute of Physiology and Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences for their invaluable assistance in experimental and laboratorial proceedings, in particular Professor Paulo Matafome and Dra. Teresa Louro.

Special thanks to my coworkers at Hospital de Santiago, Dr. Fernando Gouveia, Dra. Ana Pina, and Dra. Ana Guimarães, as well as the Administration of Espírito Santo Saúde that gave me the opportunity to dedicate part of my working schedule to the present scientific project.

To my closer family, my wife Isabel Lestro Henriques and my children Miguel and Madalena, thank you for your patience and emotional support and accept my apologies for evenings and weekends spent with my thesis instead of enjoying your company. Thank you, Isabel, also for your critical advice at all stages of my scientific project and for reading the manuscript. The results presented in this doctoral thesis were published or submitted for publication in peer-reviewed scientific journals.

- <u>Eickhoff H.</u>, Louro T. M., Matafome P.N., Vasconcelos F., Seiça R.M., Castro Sousa F., 2014. Amelioration of glycemic control by sleeve gastrectomy and gastric bypass in a lean animal model of type 2 diabetes: restoration of gut hormone profile. Obes Surg, DOI: 10.1007/s11695-014-1309-8 [Epub ahead of print].
- Eickhoff H., Guimarães A., Louro T.M., Seiça R.M., Castro Sousa F., 2014. Insulin resistance and beta cell function before and after sleeve gastrectomy in obese patients with impaired fasting glucose or type 2 diabetes. Surg Endosc. DOI: 10.1007/s00464-014-3675-7 [Epub ahead of print].
- <u>Eickhoff H.</u>, Louro T.M., Matafome P.N., Seiça R.M., Castro Sousa F., 2014. Glucagon secretion after metabolic surgery in diabetic rodents. [*submitted for publication*]

## Page **| 8**

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	11
LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	15
SUMMARY	17
RESUMO	21
PRELIMINARY NOTE	25
INTRODUCTION	27
BACKGROUND AND CURRENT STATE OF RESEARCH	33
Short overview on the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes	35
Endocrine function of the gut	36
Enteroendocrine effects of bariatric and metabolic surgery	41
Pancreatic hormones and metabolic surgery	45
Research in animal models and humans	46
AIMS AND SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION	53
MATERIAL AND METHODS	57
1. Experimental Study	59
1.1 Animals	59
1.2. Study Protocol and Surgical Techniques	60
1.2.1 Sham Surgery	61
1.2.2 Sleeve Gastrectomy	61
1.2.3 Gastric Bypass	62
1.3. Glucose, Lipids, Glycated Hemoglobin and Hormones	62

2. Clinical Study	64
2.1 Patients	64
2.2 Surgical Technique	65
3. Statistical Analysis	66
RESULTS	67
1. Experimental Study	69
1.1. Weight and Lipids	69
1.2. Glucose Metabolism	69
1.3. Insulin and Insulin Sensitivity	71
1.4. Glucagon and Glucagon-Insulin Ratio	73
1.5. Ghrelin	75
1.6. Peptide Tyrosine Tyrosine	78
1.7. Glucagon-like Peptide-1	78
2. Clinical Study	83
DISCUSSION	87
CONCLUSION	101
REFERENCES	105

## ABBREVIATIONS

AHEAD	Action for Health in Diabetes [study]
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists
AUC	Area under the curve
BMI	Body mass index   <i>índice de massa corporal</i>
BPD	Bilio-pancreatic diversion
BPD-DS	Bilio-pancreatic diversion with duodenal switch
ССК	Cholecystokinin
DIO	Diet-induced obesity
DJB	Duodenal-jejunal bypass
DJE	Duodenal-jejunal exclusion
ECG	Electrocardiogram
FBG	Fasting blood glucose
FMUC	Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra
FPG	Fasting plasma glucose
GB	Gastric bypass   bypass gástrico
GHS-R	Growth hormone secretagogue receptor
GIP	Glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide
	(initially denominated gastric inhibitory peptide)
GIR	Glucagon-insulin ratio
GJB	Gastro-jejunal bypass
GK	Goto-Kakizaki
GKC	Goto-Kakizaki rats in control group   <i>ratos Goto-Kakizaki no grupo controlo</i>
GKGB	Goto-Kakizaki rats submitted to gastric bypass   <i>ratos</i> Goto-Kakizaki submetidos a bypass gástrico

GKSG	Goto-Kakizaki rats submitted to sleeve gastrectomy   ratos Goto-Kakizaki submetidos a gastrectomia vertical
GKSS	Goto-Kakizaki rats submitted to sham surgery   <i>ratos Goto-</i> <i>Kakizaki submetidos a cirurgia simulada</i>
GLP-1	Glucagon-like peptide-1   <i>peptídeo semelhante à glucagina-1</i>
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HOMA	Homeostasis model assessment
HOMA2	Updated homeostasis model assessment   <i>modelo de</i> avaliação da homeostase modificado
HSD	Honest significant difference
IAPP	Islet amloid polypeptide
IBILI	Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose   alteração da glicémia do jejum
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
II	Ileal interposition
II-DSG	Ileal interposition plus diverted sleeve gastrectomy
II-SG	Ileal interposition plus sleeve gastrectomy
IR	Insulin resistance   resistência à insulina
IT	Ileal transposition
MDJB	Modified duodenal-jejunal bypass
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NAFLD	Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
OXM	Oxyntomodulin
PG	Plasma glucose
ΡΥΥ	Peptide tyrosine tyrosine   peptídeo tirosina tirosina
QUICKI	Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index
SEM	Standard error of the mean

SG	Sleeve gastrectomy   gastrectomia vertical
SGDJB	Sleeve gastrectomy with duodenal-jejunal bypass
SOS	Swedish Obese Subjects [study]
T2D	Type 2 diabetes   <i>diabetes tipo</i> 2
UCD-T2DM	University of California at Davis type 2 diabetes mellitus
WIC	Wistar rats in control group   ratos Wistar no grupo controlo
Y2R	Y2 receptor
ZDF	Zucker diabetic fatty rat
ZFR	Zucker fatty rat

## LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1	12- to 14-week-old male Goto-Kakizaki rats	59
Figure 2	Rat GKSG#5: Sleeve gastrectomy	61
Figure 3	Rat GKGB#4: Gastric bypass	62
Figure 4	Patient 9: Gastric mobilization	65
Figure 5	Patient 9: Gastric transection and oversewing of the staple line	65
Figure 6	Insulin – meal-induced response	72
Figure 7	Glucagon – meal-induced response	74
Figure 8	Glucagon-insulin ratio – meal-induced response	76
Figure 9	Ghrelin – meal-induced response	77
Figure 10	PYY – meal-induced response	79
Figure 11	GLP-1 – meal-induced response	80
Figure 12	Clinical study in 23 patients submitted to sleeve gastrectomy: Pre- and post-operative body mass index, fasting blood glucose, fasting insulin, insulin resistance, and beta-cell function	83
Table 1	Experimental study in 50 rats: Weight, blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin and lipids at baseline and four weeks after surgery	70
Table 2	Experimental study in 50 rats: Insulin sensitivity, plasma insulin, and glucagon at 4 weeks	73
Table 3	Body mass index, beta-cell function and insulin resistance in three patients with impaired pre-operative beta-cell function	84

SUMMARY

#### SUMMARY

**Background:** Bariatric and metabolic surgery is an accepted treatment for obese patients with type 2 diabetes (T2D). However, the potential of gastrointestinal surgery regarding glycemic control in non-severely obese diabetic patients has yet to be defined. Along with weight loss itself, changes in gut hormone profiles after surgery play an important role in diabetes remission. Pathophysiology of T2D includes insulin resistance and insufficient insulin secretion, possibly modified by surgical procedures. Excessive or inadequate glucagon secretion promoting hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis is also believed to contribute to hyperglycemia in diabetic patients. In the present experimental study, we explored the effect of established bariatric procedures, with and without duodenal exclusion, on glycemic control and pancreatic and gut hormone profile in Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats, a lean animal model of T2D. Data obtained from our experimental model were supplemented by the results of a clinical study on the effects of sleeve gastrectomy (SG) on impaired fasting glucose (IFG) and T2D in obese patients.

**Methods:** Forty 12- to 14-week-old GK rats were randomly assigned to four groups: control group (GKC), sham surgery (GKSS), sleeve gastrectomy (GKSG), and gastric bypass (GKGB). Ten age-matched Wistar rats served as a non-diabetic control group (WIC). Glycemic control and plasma lipids were assessed at the beginning of the observation period and four weeks after surgery. Fasting and mixed meal-induced plasma levels of insulin, glucagon, ghrelin, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), and peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY) were measured. In the clinical study, SG as stand-alone treatment for severe or morbid obesity was performed in 23 patients with T2D or IFG. No post-operative complications occurred and patients were dismissed from hospital on day 2 after surgery. Body mass index (BMI), fasting plasma glucose (FPG) and fasting insulin were determined before and up to 24 months after surgery. Insulin resistance and beta-cell function were calculated using the modified homeostasis model assessment (HOMA2).

**Results:** Glycemic control was improved in GKSG and GKGB groups. Fasting insulin and glucagon levels in WIC rats were similar to GKC or GKSS. Fasting glucagon levels were highest in GKGB. No significant meal-induced variations

of glucagon levels were observed in WIC, GKC or GKSS rats, whereas in groups GKSG and GKGB a significant rise occurred 30 minutes after a mixed meal, maintained up to 60 minutes. Both GKSG and GKGB rats showed an elevated glucagon-insulin ratio at 60 minutes in comparison to all other groups. Mixed meal-induced gut hormone profiles in WIC rats were significantly different from GKC and GKSS. After SG and gastric bypass (GB), GK rats showed a similar postprandial decrease in ghrelin as observed in non-diabetic WIC rats. Following both surgical procedures, a significant meal-induced increase in PYY and GLP-1 could be demonstrated. In the clinical study, BMI, FPG and fasting insulin improved significantly as early as 3 months after surgery. A three-fold increase in pre-operative insulin resistance (3.05) decreased to near-normal values (1.14) during the same period. Interestingly, overall beta-cell function diminished at 12 months of follow-up (79.6%), in comparison to pre-operative values (117.8%). Patients with a markedly reduced preoperative beta-cell function (<40%) did not achieve a complete remission after surgery.

**Conclusions:** SG and GB induced a similar improvement in overall glycemic control in lean diabetic rodents. GKC and GKSS rats showed similar glucagon levels in comparison to non-diabetic WIC rats, without variation after a mixed meal. GKSG or GKGB groups improved their overall glucose metabolism, albeit an augmented post-procedural glucagon secretion. Meal-induced profiles of ghrelin, GLP-1, and PYY in GK rats were significantly modified by SG and GB and became similar to non-diabetic Wistar rats. In obese patients with T2D or IFG, commonly characterized by an increased insulin resistance and insulin secretion, SG induced remission through reduction of insulin resistance. Our data does not support the hypothesis that duodenal exclusion and early contact of food with the ileal mucosa alone may explain changes in gut hormone profile in GK rats after gastrointestinal surgery. In our experimental study, an augmented glucagon secretion after surgery did not contribute to an impaired glucose tolerance. Pre-operative insulin resistance and beta-cell function calculated by mathematical models like HOMA2 might have prognostic value and should be studied in patients undergoing metabolic surgery.

#### RESUMO

Introdução: A cirurgia bariátrica e metabólica representa uma opção terapêutica válida em doentes obesos com diabetes tipo 2 (T2D). No entanto, o seu potencial no controlo glicémico em doentes sem obesidade severa ou mórbida não está, ainda, completamente esclarecido. Para além da perda de peso, as alterações no perfil de hormonas digestivas têm um papel importante na remissão da T2D. A patofisiologia da T2D é caracterizada pela resistência hepática e periférica à insulina e a deficiente secreção de insulina, sendo possível a sua modulação através de intervenções cirúrgicas gastrointestinais. Um fator que ainda pode contribuir para a hiperglicémia em doentes diabéticos consiste no aumento da glicogenólise e gluconeogénese hepáticas devido à secreção excessiva ou inadequada de glucagina. No presente estudo experimental avaliámos o efeito de técnicas cirúrgicas estabelecidas no tratamento da obesidade, com ou sem exclusão duodenal, no controlo glicémico e perfil hormonal intestinal e pancreático em ratos Goto-Kakizaki (GK), um modelo animal não obeso da T2D. Os resultados do estudo animal foram complementados por um estudo clínico que avaliou os efeitos da gastrectomia vertical calibrada na alteração da glicémia do jejum (IFG) e na T2D em doentes obesos.

**Métodos:** Quarenta ratos GK, com 12 – 14 semanas de idade, foram distribuídos de forma randomizada por 4 grupos: grupo controlo (GKC), cirurgia simulada (GKSS), gastrectomia vertical (GKSG), e *bypass* gástrico (GKGB). Dez ratos Wistar da mesma idade formaram o grupo controlo não-diabético (WIC). O controlo glicémico e os lipídeos plasmáticos foram avaliados no início do período de observação e quatro semanas após a cirurgia. Determinaram-se os níveis plasmáticos, em jejum e após uma refeição líquida mista, de insulina, glucagina, grelina, peptídeo semelhante à glucagina-1 (GLP-1) e peptídeo tirosina tirosina (PYY). No estudo clínico, 23 doentes obesos, portadores de T2D ou IFG, foram submetidos a gastrectomia vertical (SG) calibrada por via laparoscópica; não houve complicações pós-operatórias e todos os doentes tiveram alta hospitalar no segundo dia após a intervenção cirúrgica. Determinaram-se o índice de massa corporal (BMI), a glicémia e a insulinémia em jejum antes e até 24 meses depois da operação. A resistência à insulina

(IR) e a função da célula beta foram calculados usando o modelo de avaliação da homeostase modificado (HOMA2).

**Resultados:** O controlo glicémico melhorou nos grupos GKSG e GKGB. A insulinémia e a glucaginémia em jejum foram semelhantes nos grupos WIC e GKC ou GKSS. A glucaginémia foi mais elevada no grupo GKGB. Nos grupos WIC, GKC ou GKSS não se observaram alterações pós-prandiais significativas da glucagina. No entanto, ocorreram subidas significativas aos 30 minutos após a refeição líquida tanto no grupo GKSG como no GKGB, mantida até aos 60 minutos. Os ratos dos grupos GKSG e GKGB apresentaram uma razão glucagina-insulina elevada aos 60 minutos, em comparação com todos os outros. Os perfis pós-prandiais das hormonas do tubo digestivo foram significativamente diferentes nos ratos Wistar quando comparados com os GKC e GKSS. Após SG e *bypas*s gástrico (GB), os ratos GK apresentaram uma descida pós-prandial da grelina, semelhante aos WIC não diabéticos. Observaram-se ainda subidas pós-prandiais significativas do PYY e GLP-1 após ambas as técnicas cirúrgicas.

No estudo clínico, o BMI, a glicémia e a insulinémia em jejum melhoraram significativamente aos 3 meses do pós-operatório. A IR, aumentada até 300% no pré-operatório, desceu no mesmo período até valores próximos da normalidade (114%). Globalmente, a função da célula beta diminuiu aos 12 meses de catamnese (79.6%), em comparação com os valores pré-operatórios (117.8%). Doentes com uma função reduzida da célula beta no pré-operatório (<40%) não obtiveram remissão completa após a intervenção cirúrgica.

**Conclusão:** Em roedores diabéticos não obesos, a SG e o GB permitiram uma melhoria semelhante no controlo glicémico global. Os ratos dos grupos GKC e GKSS apresentaram níveis semelhantes de glucagina quando comparados a ratos Wistar não diabéticos; estes valores não se modificaram após uma refeição mista. Os grupos GKSG e GKGB melhoraram o controlo global da glicémia, apesar de uma secreção aumentada de glucagina. Os perfis pósprandiais de grelina, GLP-1 e PYY nos ratos GK foram significativamente diferentes após SG e GB tornando-se semelhantes aos dos ratos Wistar não-diabéticos. Em doentes obesos com T2D ou IFG, geralmente caracterizados por um incremento da secreção de insulina e da IR, a SG induziu a remissão

Page | 23

através de uma diminuição da IR. Os nossos resultados não sustentam a teoria que a exclusão duodenal e o contacto precoce de alimentos com a mucosa ileal explicam, por si só, as alterações do perfil das hormonas digestivas em ratos GK após cirurgia gastrintestinal. No estudo experimental, o aumento pósoperatório dos níveis plasmáticos de glucagina não contribuiu para a diminuição da tolerância à glicose. A IR e a função da célula beta préoperatórias, calculadas através de modelos matemáticos como a HOMA2, podem ter valor prognóstico e devem ser avaliadas em doentes submetidos a cirurgia metabólica.

### PRELIMINARY NOTE

The initial conception of our research project was laid out in 2007 and accepted as project for a doctoral thesis by the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra (FMUC) in 2008. Due to unforeseen difficulties regarding the reproduction of the local breeding colony of Goto-Kakizaki (GK) rats belonging to the Institute of Physiology of FMUC, in the context of relocation from the Center for Experimental Research at the University Hospital of Coimbra to new facilities at the Institute for Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences (IBILI), preliminary experimental studies began in late 2010. Since then, a considerable amount of research on the subject of gut hormones and enteroendocrine effects of surgery has been published. For practical reasons and to increase the scientific substance, all relevant content of papers published to date of final outline of our thesis (July 2014) will be reflected in the corresponding sections of the manuscript, including the section on "BACKGROUND AND CURRENT STATE OF RESEARCH".

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### INTRODUCTION

According to recent data, 382 million people suffer from diabetes worldwide, many of them undiagnosed. Type 2 diabetes accounts for most cases and, besides genetic predisposition, sedentary lifestyle, overweight, and poor dietary habits represent main contributing factors. Until 2035, a 55% increase in prevalence is expected (International Diabetes Federation, 2013). Diabetes imposes a major burden on health costs and leads to premature death due to complications like cardiovascular disease and diabetic nephropathy with subsequent renal insufficiency. Other non-lethal consequences of diabetes include debilitating retinopathy and blindness or peripheral neuro-vascular disease and amputation.

Conservative measures including behavioral weight loss programs and intensive life-style interventions have a favorable short-term effect on body weight and glycemic control in obese patients with type 2 diabetes if compared to standard care (Unick et al., 2011) and also improve glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and beta-cell function associated with augmented incretin secretion (Solomon et al., 2010). However, the long-term results of the Look AHEAD (Action for Health in Diabetes) trial turned out to be rather disappointing with only half of the patients obtaining a weight-loss over 5% of initial body weight, after 8 years of follow-up (The Look AHEAD Research Group, 2014); impact on diabetes control and glycated hemoglobin levels was reduced (Unick et al., 2013). Regarding the primary endpoint of the study, cardiovascular morbidity and mortality was similar in both groups (intensive lifestyle intervention or usual diabetes support and education) and the trial was interrupted after a mean follow-up of 9.6 years and 5,145 enrolled patients (The Look AHEAD Research Group, 2014).

Surgical treatment of obesity has been shown to be more effective than medical treatment, not only regarding weight loss, but also concerning control of comorbidities like type 2 diabetes (T2D). The Swedish Obese Subjects (SOS) study enrolled prospectively 2,010 patients submitted to bariatric surgery and 2,037 contemporaneously matched controls treated conservatively. After 10 years of follow-up, the incidence of diabetes was 7% in the surgical group and 24% in the group submitted to conservative treatment (p<0.001). Recovery from

pre-existing diabetes was more frequent in the surgical group (36% *vs.* 13%), underscoring the favorable effects of bariatric surgery on diabetes control (Sjöström et al., 2004). Overall mortality during a follow-up period up to 15 years was lower in the surgical group with an adjusted cumulative hazard ratio of 0.71 (Sjöström et al., 2007).

In specialized centers, the beneficial effect of bariatric surgery, particularly gastric bypass (GB), on glycemic control in obese patients with T2D or impaired fasting glucose (IFG) has been recognized for decades (Pories et al., 1995, 1987). Remission was observed in nearly all patients with impaired fasting glucose (97.8%) and in most patients with T2D (82.9%). Similar or even better results regarding diabetes control were obtained after bilio-pancreatic diversion (BPD) with remission rates close to 100% (Marinari et al., 2006; Scopinaro, 2006; Scopinaro et al., 1998).

An extensive and systematic meta-analysis including thousands of patients confirmed the effect of bariatric surgery on weight loss and glycemic control (Buchwald et al., 2004). Addressing specifically the question of diabetes remission after bariatric surgery, a more recent meta-analysis concluded that a complete resolution of the clinical manifestations of diabetes, e. g. fasting glycemia <100 mg/dl and glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) <6% without medication, occurred in 78.1% of patients (Buchwald et al., 2009). Diabetes was improved or resolved in 86.6% and remission was maintained for more than 2 years in 74.6%. BPD revealed to be the most effective surgical technique (95.1% resolved), followed by GB (80.3% resolved), vertical banded gastroplasty (79.7% resolved), and laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding (56.7% resolved).

In many patients, improvement of glycemic control occurs rather early after GB, within hours or days, before any significant weight loss has been achieved (Pories et al., 1995; Smith et al., 1996) and was thought to be related to neuroendocrine mechanisms due to the bypass of the gastric antrum and duodenum. Analyzing their series of 608 patients submitted to GB in 2001, including 146 diabetic patients and 152 with impaired glucose tolerance (IGT), Pories and Albrecht postulated the hypothesis that, in vulnerable individuals, T2D might be caused by an overstimulation of the foregut and pancreas by incretins like glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) or glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) (Pories and Albrecht, 2001).

More recently, superobese patients with T2D or IGT, submitted to sleeve gastrectomy (SG) as first stage of bilio-pancreatic diversion with duodenal switch (BPD-DS), were shown to ameliorate glucose control at 18 months of follow-up, without any bypass of the duodenum and without completing the second stage of surgery (Silecchia et al., 2006). In another study, including 33 obese or superobese patients, diabetes remission rates after SG alone reached 84.6% after 3 years and 76.9% after 5 years, but 9 patients were submitted to the second stage of BPD-DS and excluded from further analysis (Abbatini et al., 2013).

SG and GB represent distinct surgical techniques regarding the exclusion of the duodenum and proximal jejunum, hypothetically implied in diabetes remission (Pories and Albrecht, 2001). Interestingly, recent data suggests that both techniques are similarly effective in treating T2D in severely and morbidly obese patients, at least in the short term (Cutolo et al., 2012; de Gordejuela et al., 2011; Jiménez et al., 2012; Keidar et al., 2013; Nocca et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013). Notwithstanding, a meta-analysis including five randomized controlled trials on diabetes remission demonstrated that GB was more effective than SG at the cost of an increased complication rate, but many analyzed parameters were only available from 2 or 3 studies (Li et al., 2013). A more extensive review and meta-analysis including 33 studies and 1375 patients did not show any significant differences in short-term diabetes remission after both techniques (Yip et al., 2013). Furthermore, recent randomized controlled trials comparing medical and surgical treatment of T2D in obese patients demonstrated superior results after SG, GB, and BPD in comparison to medical treatment (Kashyap et al., 2013; Leslie et al., 2012; Mingrone et al., 2012; Palikhe et al., 2014; Samat et al., 2013; Schauer et al., 2012).

Less is known regarding the efficacy of surgical approaches in controlling T2D in patients that are simply overweight (body mass index [BMI]  $25 - 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) or suffer from mild obesity (BMI  $30 - 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ). In a small series from Italy, nine diabetic patients with a BMI of  $28 - 35 \text{ kg/m}^2$  were submitted to SG, with favorable results regarding diabetes control in comparison to a control group,

one year after surgery (Abbatini et al., 2012). Two studies from Chile including 30 and 31 patients with mild obesity submitted to GB showed similar results with remission rates of 65% and 93.6%, after 2 and 3 years of follow-up (Boza et al., 2011a; Lanzarini et al., 2013). However, two studies from Brazil revealed conflicting results after GB. A less favorable outcome was observed in 27 diabetic patients with class I obesity (BMI 30 – 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) achieving remission only in 48.1% of cases after a mean follow-up of 20 months (de Sa et al., 2011). In another study in the same population, 88% of 66 patients achieved remission (HbA1c <6.5%) after a median follow-up of 5 years (R. V Cohen et al., 2012). In diabetic Asian patients with a BMI <35 Kg/m<sup>2</sup>, remission rates after GB were merely about 55% (fasting plasma glucose (FPG) <110 mg/dl and HbA1c <6%), even with a markedly improved insulin resistance, after a follow-up of 2 years (Lee et al., 2011b). Similar results were obtained in Indian patients with class I obesity and, after 5 years of follow-up, diabetes remission according to ASA criteria was maintained in 57.7% of patients (Lakdawala et al., 2013). BPD in 30 diabetic patients with mild obesity or simply overweight showed slightly better results and diabetes remission (defined as HbA1c <6%) was obtained in 67% (Scopinaro et al., 2011).

Diabetes resolution after bariatric surgery is associated with reduction in hepatic and peripheral insulin resistance after gastric banding, gastric bypass or sleeve gastrectomy (Ballantyne et al., 2006; Benaiges et al., 2013; Rizzello et al., 2010; Wickremesekera et al., 2005). However, gut hormones and the enteroinsular axis play a renowned role in insulin secretion, and in obese patients neuroendocrine mechanisms controlling hunger and satiety seem to be affected by bariatric surgical procedures (le Roux et al., 2006). Nonetheless, the effect of gastrointestinal surgery on type 2 diabetes in non-severely or morbidly obese patients and underlying changes in gut hormone profiles remains to be further elucidated.

BACKGROUND AND CURRENT STATE OF RESEARCH
#### BACKGROUND AND CURRENT STATE OF RESEARCH

#### Short overview on the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes

Criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes include HbA1c levels  $\geq$ 6.5%, FPG  $\geq$ 126 mg/dL, 2-h plasma glucose (PG) after an 75g oral glucose tolerance test  $\geq$ 200mg/dL, or random PG  $\geq$ 200mg/dL in a subject with clinical manifestations of hyperglycemia (American Diabetes Association, 2014). Individuals with IFG (FPG levels 100 -125 mg/dL) or IGT (2-h PG levels 140 – 199 mg/dL) are considered at an increased risk for the development of diabetes.

Whereas type 1 diabetes is characterized by an absolute insulin deficiency due to progressive beta-cell destruction, patients with T2D present with an insufficient pancreatic insulin secretion in response to a given plasma glucose level to maintain normoglycemia in the presence of hepatic and peripheral insulin resistance (DeFronzo, 1992). Insulin resistance represents a key feature of T2D and is associated with accumulation of hepatic fat deposits (Seppälä-Lindroos et al., 2002), reduced suppression of serum free fatty acids (FFA) by insulin, and intramyocellular triglyceride content in the skeletal muscle (Guo, 2007). In obese patients, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression and suppression of anti-inflammatory proteins like adiponectin ads to insulin resistance and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (Asrih and Jornayvaz, 2013). Progression of the condition leads to beta-cell failure, frequently referred to as exhaustion of the beta-cell, and mechanisms like glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity and islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP) deposition have been implicated in deterioration of insulin secretion (DeFronzo, 2009).

Loss of the incretin effect due to changes in incretin levels and action like resistance to GIP or reduced secretion of GLP-1 plays an additional role in the development of type 2 diabetes (Holst et al., 2009). Furthermore, the beneficial effect of both hormones on beta-cell proliferation and neogenesis, as well as the prevention of apoptosis, seems to be impaired in diabetic patients. Excessive or inadequate secretion of glucagon from pancreatic alpha-cells promoting hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis possibly also contributes to impaired glucose tolerance in type 2 diabetes (Gastaldelli et al., 2000; Jiang and Zhang, 2003).

# Endocrine function of the gut

Gut hormones from enteroendocrine cells of the gastrointestinal mucosa play an important role in the regulation of energy homeostasis and glucose metabolism. Besides acting on the regulation of satiety and hunger via neuroendocrine pathways, gut-derived peptide hormones control gastric emptying and stimulate post-prandial insulin release from pancreatic beta-cells (Bloom et al., 2005; Drucker, 2007).

The increased oral glucose tolerance in comparison to intravenous administration has been described since the late 19<sup>th</sup> century (Creutzfeldt, 1979). However, only the availability of a radioimmunoassay for insulin determination in the 1960's allowed to demonstrate an intensified insulin response after an oral glucose load in comparison to intravenous administration (Dupre, 1964; McIntyre et al., 1964). The insulinotropic effect of a peptide with a "glucagon-like immunoreactivity" stimulated by oral glucose intake was described (Samols et al., 1966, 1965), eventually derived from the gut as it was still present in patients submitted to pancreatectomy (Samols and Marks, 1967).

Gastric inhibitory peptide (GIP)<sup>1</sup> was isolated in 1970 (Brown et al., 1970) and its origin from the duodenal K-cells was demonstrated (Buffa et al., 1975; Polak et al., 1973). In both rats (Turner et al., 1973) and humans (Dupre et al., 1973), it stimulated insulin secretion, but administration of exogenous GIP would stimulate glucagon secretion as well (Taminato et al., 1977), apparently in a dose-dependent fashion at basal glucose concentrations (J. J. Meier et al., 2003). In obese patients, fat together with glucose stimulated the release of immunoreactive GIP more than glucose alone, and even more so in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance that also presented with elevated fasting levels of GIP (Creutzfeldt et al., 1978). Apparently, in patients with T2D, GIP would not increment insulin release as it would in non-diabetic subjects (Elahi et al., 1994), having a defective receptor in patients with T2D being proposed to explain the reduced insulinotropic effect in these patients (Holst et al., 1997). However, whereas the continuous infusion of GIP in diabetic patients would only produce a weak response regarding insulin secretion, the response to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Later denominated "glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide" due to its effects on insulin secretion.

bolus administration of GIP seems to remain preserved, making a defective receptor unlikely (Meier et al., 2004).

In 1981, a clinical study was published that showed a post-prandial elevation of enteroglugacon from the distal gut in obese patients that had undergone jejunoileal or biliopancreatic bypass (Sarson et al., 1981). It could be demonstrated in extracts from rat gut that, after neutralization and immune-absorption of GIP, more than 50% of the incretin effect remained, indicating the presence of additional gut hormones that stimulate insulin secretion (Ebert et al., 1983). Further studies determined the potent insulinotropic effect of the 31 amino acids containing form of GLP-1 in rats (Mojsov et al., 1987) and man (Kreymann et al., 1987). GLP-1 is found in intestinal L-cells with an increasing concentration in the distal jejunum, ileum and colon (Eissele et al., 1992) and was recognized as a new incretin hormone with distinguished properties (Orskov, 1992).

A marked elevation of GLP-1 was shown 20 years after jejuno-ileal bypass (Näslund et al., 1998), confirming the findings of the earlier study published in 1981 by Sarson et al. Besides effects on glucose homeostasis, GLP-1 inhibits gastric acid secretion (O'Halloran et al., 1990) and gastric emptying (Nauck et al., 1997). It also acts on the central nervous system in specific areas of the hypothalamus by inhibiting food intake and mediating satiety in rats (Turton et al., 1996) and humans (Gutzwiller et al., 1999b). In diabetic patients, it does not only decrease energy intake and enhance satiety, but also controls postprandial plasma glucose levels (Gutzwiller et al., 1999a). Furthermore, administration of GLP-1 to healthy volunteers reduced the postprandial increase in serum triglycerides, besides delaying gastric emptying as described before (Meier et al., 2006). In overweight and obese humans, meal-induced secretion of GLP-1 was more pronounced after a meal with high fat content in comparison to high content in carbohydrates and associated with short-term control of food intake (Gibbons et al., 2013). Additionally, GLP-1 modulates plasma ghrelin in the postprandial period preventing an immediate decrease in ghrelin levels after the meal and suppressing the subsequent increase in the late postprandial period (Hagemann et al., 2007). In an animal model, enhanced protein-mediated GLP-1 secretion after duodenal administration of zein hydrolysate was inhibited through vagal denervation, whereas the effect of jejunal and ileal administration

was maintained, highlighting the different mechanisms of GLP-1 secretion throughout the gastrointestinal tract (Hira et al., 2009).

Peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY) was initially isolated from porcine upper small intestine (Tatemoto and Mutt, 1980) and an inhibitory effect on exocrine pancreatic secretion was described in cats (Tatemoto, 1982). The molecular structure of PYY is similar to neuropeptide Y (Tatemoto et al., 1982) and further studies identified PYY in L-cells of the distal small bowel and, in increasing concentrations, in the colon and rectum (Adrian et al., 1985; Lundberg et al., 1982). PYY is secreted in response to food intake, particularly with a high lipid content (Adrian et al., 1985). In the central nervous system, subtype  $PYY_{3-36}$ interacts as an agonist with the Y2 receptor (Y2R) on neuropeptide Y (NPY) neurons in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus inhibiting food intake (Batterham et al., 2002). In humans, functional magnetic resonance imaging could demonstrate activation of specific brain areas after exogenous administration of PYY<sub>3-36</sub> and GLP-1<sub>7-36</sub>, similar to those observed after regular food intake (Batterham et al., 2007; De Silva et al., 2011). Recent research in mice suggested that PPY acts also on GLP-1 secretion through activation of peripheral Y2R (Chandarana et al., 2013).

Besides release from intestinal L-cells, PYY is also co-stored with glucagon in pancreatic alpha-cells. *In vivo* experiments in a mouse model showed no effect on basal plasma levels of insulin or glucagon, but stimulated secretion of both hormones was inhibited (Böttcher et al., 1989). PYY restrains the glucose-stimulated insulinotropic action of GIP in dogs (Guo et al., 1989), but insulinostatic effects of PYY on glucose-stimulated insulin secretion through inhibition of the cyclic AMP cascade were also observed in isolated mouse islets (Nieuwenhuizen et al., 1994). Hence, a combined effect of direct intra-islet action of PYY and indirect processes mediated through other gut hormones is plausible.

Similar to PYY, oxyntomodulin (OXM) is another enterohormone derived from proglucagon and secreted from L-cells in the distal ileum (Bataille et al., 1981). Actions of OXM include inhibition of basal and postprandial gastric acid secretion, gastroduodenal motility and gastric emptying (Schjoldager et al., 1989). Furthermore, OXM reduces food intake in rats (Dakin et al., 2001) and

humans (Cohen et al., 2003). In obese non-diabetic volunteers, preprandial subcutaneous administration of OXM resulted in significant weight loss over a four-week study period (Wynne et al., 2005). A cumulative effect on food intake during the simultaneous administration of PPY has been demonstrated (Field et al., 2010). Besides a decrease in energy intake, OXM promoted an increase in activity related energy expenditure in a small randomized controlled trial including 15 healthy overweight and obese volunteers (Wynne et al., 2006). Recent research suggested that dual activation of the GLP-1 receptor and the glucagon receptor by OXM is involved in weight loss and maintenance of glucose homeostasis after extrinsic administration in mice (Du et al., 2012; Kosinski et al., 2012; Pocai, 2014).

In the late 1990s, a new gastrointestinal hormone was identified (Kojima et al., 1999) that binded to the previously described orphan growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R) in the pituitary gland and the hypothalamus (Howard et al., 1996). Ghrelin, an acylated peptide of 28 amino acids, represents a growth-hormone secretagogue and is secreted mainly from the gastric fundus and, to a far lesser extent, throughout the remaining gastrointestinal tract (Date et al., 2000; Kojima et al., 1999). Its exogenous administration induces an increase in food intake and adiposity in rats through activation of the growth hormone receptor on NPY neurons in the arcuate nucleus of hypothalamus (Tschöp et al., 2000; Wren et al., 2000). Alongside with effects on the central regulation of satiety and hunger, ghrelin acts indirectly on gastric acid secretion via stimulation of the vagus nerve (Date et al., 2001). In analogy to observations in rodents, intravenous ghrelin infusion increases food intake in man (Wren et al., 2001). Generally, plasma ghrelin is decreased in obese patients if compared to lean controls (Tschöp et al., 2001), particularly in patients with insulin resistance (McLaughlin et al., 2004). Somewhat conversely, obese patients with NAFLD, a condition associated with hepatic insulin resistance, exibit higher ghrelin levels together with more advanced fibrosis and steatohepatitis (Estep et al., 2011).

Initial studies in rats showed an upregulation of ghrelin secretion in the fasting state and after insulin administration (Toshinai et al., 2001) indicating a working feedback mechanism for the stimulation of food intake. However, contradicting

research in the isolated rat stomach found that insulin and amino acids decreased ghrelin secretion, whereas lipids had no effect and acetylcholine increased secretion significantly (Shrestha et al., 2009). In healthy human volunteers a similar inhibition of ghrelin secretion after insulin-induced hypoglycemia was demonstrated (Broglio et al., 2004a; Leonetti et al., 2004).

Apparently, ghrelin has an effect on glucose metabolism inducing hyperglycemia and a decrease in serum insulin levels in healthy lean volunteers (Broglio et al., 2001). The particular importance of ghrelin in maintaining glucose homeostasis is supported by the discovery of the islet ghrelin cell (Wierup et al., 2002) and reinforced by the description of GHS-R expression in pancreatic beta-cells (Dezaki et al., 2008). Besides stimulation of GHS-R by circulating ghrelin, a paracrine effect on insulin secretion was proposed, apparently in a dose-dependent fashion. In isolated mouse islets, ghrelin in very high concentrations increased glucose-stimulated insulin release, whereas low concentrations inhibited insulin secretion (Salehi et al., 2004). However, most studies report an inhibitory effect of ghrelin on insulin release that, in a physiological context, acts in a reciprocal association with insulin (Dezaki et al., 2008; Peng et al., 2012; Tong et al., 2010; Wierup et al., 2014). Thus, high fasting plasma ghrelin levels are linked to low fasting insulin levels and the postprandial increase in insulin secretion is accompanied by a decrease in circulating ghrelin. Apparently, inhibitory effects on insulin secretion are additionally mediated by suppression of GLP-1-induced insulin release by exogenous and endogenous islet-derived ghrelin (Damdindorj et al., 2012).

Less attention has been paid to the enteroendocrine function of cholecystokinin (CCK), a gastrointestinal peptide secreted from duodenal and jejunal I-cells. Its anorectic effects are mediated through receptors on the vagus nerve and activation of specific areas in the brain stem and hypothalamus. Apparently, long-term weight control is independent from the CCK1 and CCK2 receptor as receptor-deficient mice showed a comparable daily food intake, weight gain and glucose homeostasis in comparison to wild-type animals. Yet, exogenous administration of CCK would reduce food intake in wild-type and CCK2 receptor in the regulation of short-term satiety (Kopin et al., 1999). However, recent research

questions the role of the CCK2 receptor in long-regulation of hunger and satiety as receptor-deficient mice developed hyperphagia, obesity and impairment of glucose homeostasis (Clerc et al., 2007).

The importance of CCK-mediated intra-duodenal fat hydrolysis on GLP-1 secretion has been shown in healthy volunteers that received an intra-duodenal fat infusion with or without an irreversible inhibitor of gastro-intestinal lipases (orlistat). In conclusion, the selective blockade of the CCK1 receptor abolished the effect of fat hydrolysis on GLP-1 secretion (Beglinger et al., 2010). An analogous effect of CCK1 receptor blockage on the secretion of ghrelin and PPY had been previously observed using a similar study design (Degen et al., 2007).

# Enteroendocrine effects of bariatric and metabolic surgery

For many years, the effect of gastrointestinal surgery on body weight and comorbidities has been mainly attributed to restriction of caloric intake through reduction of gastric capacity or malabsorption due to bypassing of gastrointestinal segments. However, isolated early reports suggested that endocrine mechanisms associated with surgical procedures contribute to outcome after surgery and resolution of T2D (Ackerman, 1981; Halverson et al., 1982; Pories et al., 1987; Sarson et al., 1981). Later on, the ascent of laparoscopic surgery, the epidemic-like spread of obesity, and the subsequent expansion of surgical treatment for obesity, together with the diffusion of knowledge on gut hormones, led to a significant increase in research on the enteroendocrine effects of gastrointestinal surgery for obesity and their contribution to outcome after treatment, particularly regarding diabetes remission.

In general, the incretin effect of gastrointestinal hormones reflects the augmented insulin secretion after an oral glucose load in comparison to isoglycemic intravenous glucose administration defined by:  $[(InsulinAUC_{oral} - InsulinAUC_{isoglycose IV}) / InsulinAUC_{oral} x 100\%]^2$ . In obese diabetic patients, the incretin effect on insulin secretion is markedly impaired in comparison to obese

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  AUC = area under the curve.

non-diabetic controls. Yet, one month after GB, a more than fourfold increase in the incretin effect was observed, alongside with amelioration of fasting blood glucose and a significantly augmented glucose-stimulated GLP-1 secretion. In comparison to the non-diabetic obese control group, the enhanced incretin effect in operated diabetic patients reached comparable values (Laferrère et al., 2007)

A postoperative decrease in fasting plasma GIP levels in obese diabetic patients was observed after GB and associated with normalization of blood glucose and fasting insulin, indicating a role for incretin metabolism in the amelioration of glucose homeostasis after duodenal exclusion (Rubino et al., 2004). In non-diabetic obese patients, a similar reduction in fasting GIP levels occurred after GB, whereas fasting GLP-1 levels remained unchanged. In other studies, postprandial GLP-1 response increased significantly after GB in comparison to preoperative values (Borg et al., 2006) and lean or obese controls (le Roux et al., 2006). Effects of GB on GLP-1 secretion were maintained even 10 years after surgery (Dar et al., 2012). In obese patients with T2D, the impaired GLP-1 response to a standardized test meal was still significant in comparison to patients with normal or impaired glucose tolerance, six weeks after GB, but recovered after one year of follow-up (Morínigo et al., 2006a). However, a peak plasma level of GLP-1 was observed 30 minutes after a mixed liquid meal, as early as 7 days after GB in obese diabetic patients, being more pronounced on subsequent observations at 30 and 90 days after surgery (Umeda et al., 2011). Analogous observations regarding glucose metabolism, plasma insulin and plasma GIP levels were described after BPD, as soon as one week after surgery. Fasting and glucose-stimulated GLP-1 levels increased simultaneously (Guidone et al., 2006).

Sleeve gastrectomy, a surgical technique without duodenal exclusion, produced similar results regarding GLP-1 secretion in comparison to patients submitted to GB (Nannipieri et al., 2013; Peterli et al., 2012, 2009; Romero et al., 2012). In another study in obese diabetic patients submitted to SG, the first phase of insulin secretion after an intravenous glucose tolerance test improved early after surgery and secretion of GLP-1 and PYY was increased. However, patients with longstanding T2D (>10 years) did not experience the same improvement in

glucose homeostasis and secretion of gut hormones (Basso et al., 2011). Interestingly, in Asian patients with a BMI of 31.5±3.2 kg/m2 and longstanding type 2 diabetes submitted to either SG or GB, a far superior rate of diabetes resolution was observed after GB in comparison to SG, albeit a similar decrease in BMI and enhancement of meal-induced GLP-1 secretion after both surgical procedures (Lee et al., 2011a).

After GB in obese human patients, whether diabetic or not, a sharp and statistically significant postprandial rise of PYY could be observed if compared to lean or obese controls (Borg et al., 2006; Korner et al., 2006, 2005; le Roux et al., 2006; Morínigo et al., 2006b). Obese patients submitted to SG, together with partial enterectomy and omentectomy (Santoro et al., 2008, 2006), or SG alone (Basso et al., 2011; Dimitriadis et al., 2013; Karamanakos et al., 2008) experienced similar changes in PYY after surgery. Comparing SG and GB to medical treatment, fasting and post-prandial PYY increased similarly after both surgical techniques, whereas conservative treatment had no influence on plasma PYY levels (Valderas et al., 2010). An increase in fasting and meal-induced PYY levels has also been observed after BPD-DS, a surgical technique that incorporates SG (Hedberg et al., 2011).

Markedly reduced fasting ghrelin levels were observed after GB in comparison to obese and normal-weight controls or to patients with diet-induced weight loss (Cummings et al., 2002; Frühbeck et al., 2004a, 2004b; Tritos et al., 2003). No differences were observed between diabetic or non-diabetic obese patients regarding low preoperative ghrelin levels and postoperative decrease (Geloneze et al., 2003). Meal-related and diurnal fluctuations of plasma ghrelin seem to be suppressed after surgery (Cummings et al., 2002). Comparing preand postprandial ghrelin levels, Korner and coworkers could demonstrate an increased postprandial suppression of plasma ghrelin in patients submitted to GB in comparison to obese controls achieving a profile similar to lean controls (Korner et al., 2006, 2005). Yet, contradictory results indicate an unchanged fasting plasma ghrelin in weight-stable patients and even an increase in patients experiencing active weight loss after GB (Borg et al., 2006; Faraj et al., 2003; Nijhuis et al., 2004). Minigastric bypass (MGB) represents a variation of GB with a longer gastric pouch and a lateral gastro-

jejunostomy. Apparently, no effect on fasting plasma ghrelin levels is exerted, but excess weight loss correlated negatively with high preoperative fasting ghrelin levels (Liou et al., 2008).

Hypothetically, transient decrease of fasting ghrelin after GB might be attributable to vagus nerve dysfunction after surgery, as ghrelin is produced mainly in the gastric fundus and secretion depends on vagal stimulation (Sundbom et al., 2007). However, pre- and postprandial plasma levels are not necessarily associated with a successful surgical outcome regarding weight loss or satiety after GB (Christou et al., 2005). Comparable results regarding the missing predictive value of fasting plasma ghrelin levels for post-surgical weight loss were decribed after gastric banding (Busetto et al., 2006).

One year after BPD, fasting ghrelin levels were increased in comparison to preoperative values (Adami et al., 2004), thus indicating probably a new steadystate. In another study regarding patients submitted to BPD, plasma ghrelin levels also increased after surgery, but circadian pulsatility was disrupted, in a similar fashion as observed in patients submitted to GB (Cummings et al., 2002).

A sustained decrease in fasting ghrelin levels was observed after SG in comparison to preoperative values (Langer et al., 2005). In a comparative study, fasting ghrelin levels decreased and postprandial ghrelin was markedly suppressed after SG, whereas no significant changes were demonstrated after GB (Karamanakos et al., 2008). Similarly, fasting ghrelin levels were significantly suppressed after BPD-DS, if compared to obese patients treated with vertical gastroplasty or diet that experienced increased fasting ghrelin plasma levels (Kotidis et al., 2006). In another study, resection of the gastric fundus added to standard GB suppressed fasting ghrelin in a fashion similar to SG, whereas ghrelin levels increased in the group submitted to standard GB. Moreover, meal-stimulated secretion of GLP-1 and PYY was more pronounced after GB with fundus resection (Chronaiou et al., 2012).

However, at least the initial effect of bariatric surgery on improvement of insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in obese non-diabetic or diabetic patients might be due to caloric restriction and not related to changes in secretion of gastrointestinal hormones, as demonstrated in studies involving controls and patients submitted to GB (Isbell et al., 2010) and BPD-DS (Plourde et al., 2014). Conversely, a postprandial increase in PYY and GLP-1 was shown 2 - 3 weeks after GB, not observed in an age- and BMI-matched control group after a 7-day low-calorie diet (Evans et al., 2012), albeit results may have been biased because dietary changes in patients in the GB group lasted for already 2 - 3 weeks.

#### Pancreatic hormones and metabolic surgery

As outlined above, hepatic and peripheral insulin resistance represents a key feature of T2D and even more so in obese patients. Progression of disease leads to beta-cell failure due glucotoxicity, lipotoxicity and deposition of IAPP. Loss of incretin function plays an additional role. Consequently, patients with IGT or overt T2D can present with high, normal or low insulin plasma levels, depending on disease stage and contribution of the different factors. Plasma glucagon levels tend to be high due to inadequate or excessive release from pancreatic alpha-cells and might contribute to impairment of glucose tolerance.

In obese patients, whether diabetic or not, high preoperative fasting plasma insulin levels related to insulin resistance decrease significantly after all types of bariatric surgical procedures including gastric banding, sleeve gastrectomy, gastric bypass, and biliopancreatic diversion (Adami et al., 2004; Ballantyne et al., 2006; Benaiges et al., 2013; Faria et al., 2013; Gumbs et al., 2005; Mari et al., 2006; Pontiroli et al., 2002; Pories et al., 2010, 1992, 1987; Ramos et al., 2006; Rizzello et al., 2010; Wickremesekera et al., 2005). Mixed-meal induced insulin secretion tends to be augmented after surgery (Falkén et al., 2011; le Roux et al., 2006; Peterli et al., 2009). Reduced hepatic insulin resistance and increased hepatic insulin-induced glucose uptake in obese diabetic and non-diabetic patients after both GB and SG has been demonstrated by positron emission tomography (PET) during an euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp (Immonen et al., 2014). Besides improvement in insulin sensitivity and reduction of insulin resistance, an augmented beta-cell glucose sensitivity after BPD in

obese diabetic patients indicates major changes in beta-cell function (Camastra et al., 2007).

Less is known regarding the influence of surgical procedures on glucagon secretion. In general, fasting glucagon is not affected after surgery, whereas meal-induced response is initially incremented and decreases after one year to preoperative values (Falkén et al., 2011).

#### Research in animal models and humans

Goto-Kakizaki rats derived originally from glucose intolerant Wistar rats submitted to repetitive selective inbreeding (Goto et al., 1976) and have been studied extensively as a model for T2D in non-obese humans. They represent similar features in comparison to the human pancreatic phenotype in patients with T2D (Portha et al., 2009; Seiça et al., 2003a). In hyperglycemic conditions, the isolated pancreas of GK rats presents with a blunted pancreatic insulin response after stimulation by the incretin hormones GIP and GLP-1 in comparison to the pancreas of non-diabetic Wistar rats (Edholm et al., 2009).

In GK rats, duodenal exclusion without gastric resection ameliorated glycemic control in comparison to sham operated controls, as demonstrated by an oral glucose tolerance test, three weeks after surgery. No statistically significant effect on fasting insulin and GIP (Rubino and Marescaux, 2004) or glucosestimulated insulin, GIP and GLP-1 was observed (Pacheco et al., 2007). Comparing gastro-jejunal bypass (GJB) to gastro-jejunostomy without duodenal exclusion in the same animal model, it could be shown that animals submitted to surgery without duodenal exclusion would not experience an ameliorated glucose control in comparison to sham surgery or non-operated controls (Rubino et al., 2006). A later study in GK rats could show an increase in GLP-1 secretion after GJB, associated with higher mRNA insulin expression in pancreatic islets (de Luis et al., 2012). Duodenal-jejunal bypass (DJB) also enhanced beta-cell area and decreased associated fibrosis in comparison to sham-operated animals (Speck et al., 2011). Gastric bypass carried out in a fashion similar to humans including reduction of gastric volume in addition to DJB promoted enhanced expression of the GLP-1 receptor in pancreatic islet,

besides augmented fasting GLP-1 levels and reduced insulin resistance (Liu et al., 2011). Apparently, DJB in GK rats also up-regulates hepatic insulin signaling pathways and down-regulates key regulatory enzymes of gluconeogenesis (Sun et al., 2013).

However, ileal transposition (IT), a surgical technique without duodenal exclusion, showed amelioration of glucose control in operated GK rats, alongside with a statistically significant rise in GLP-1 after an oral glucose load in comparison to sham operated animals (Patriti et al., 2005). Additionally, an increased proglucagon expression was demonstrated in the transposed ileal segment (Patriti et al., 2007). Comparing duodenal-jejunal exclusion (DJE) to IT in the same animal model, a similar post-operative glucose-stimulated increase in GLP-1 secretion and improvement of glucose tolerance was observed after both surgical techniques. Interestingly, improved glucose tolerance was reversible in rats submitted to DJE through administration of Exendin-[9-39], a GLP-1 receptor antagonist (Kindel et al., 2009). Similar results regarding glucose homeostasis and glucose-stimulated GLP-1 secretion were obtained in another study in GK rats comparing BPD without gastric resection to animals submitted to IT. No significant differences between groups were observed (Zhang et al., 2011). Besides an increment in GLP-1 secretion, IT in GK rats promoted myocardial glucose uptake, protein expression of insulin signaling pathways, and protein levels of membrane glucose transporter 4 (Yan et al., 2012).

In the same rodent model, the effect of SG on glucose homeostasis and fasting plasma ghrelin was compared to the effect of a modified duodenal-jejunal bypass (MDJB), a technique with duodenal exclusion similar to DJE. Interestingly, SG provided better results regarding glucose metabolism and reduced fasting plasma ghrelin levels (Li et al., 2009). Combination of duodenal exclusion and SG in GK rats showed a more pronounced GLP-1 secretion after an oral glucose load in comparison to SG alone. However, both surgical techniques obtained similar results regarding decrease of fasting ghrelin and glucose-stimulated increase of PYY in comparison to controls (Sun et al., 2012).

Research in obese University of California at Davis type 2 diabetes mellitus (UCD-T2DM) rats, a recent polygenic rodent model for T2D (Cummings et al.,

2008), revealed a metabolic effect of SG regarding glucose homeostasis, even without bypassing any segment of the digestive tract. Further investigation revealed also an increase in nutrient-stimulated GLP-1 and PPY secretion, alongside with decreased fasting plasma insulin and ghrelin (Cummings et al., 2012).

Other rodent models used to study the effects of bariatric and metabolic surgery include strains with a single genetic defect like the obese Zucker fatty rat (ZFR) due to a simple autosomal recessive gene on chromosome 5. A diabetic substrain of the model was obtained by selective inbreeding for impairment of glucose homeostasis and denominated Zucker diabetic fatty rat (ZDF) (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007). Albeit a model with a single genetic defect might not correctly represent the polygenic nature of human T2D, male ZDF rats are characterized by progression to overt diabetes together with insulin resistance and beta-cell apoptosis. After DJB, a decrease in food intake and weight gain has been observed, alongside with a meal-induced suppression of acylated ghrelin, in the presence of increased fasting plasma ghrelin levels (Rubino et al., 2005).

Insulin sensitivity in ZDF rats submitted to GB was significantly improved in comparison to pair-fed controls or animals with ad libitum access to food, in the absence of significant changes in visceral or subcutaneous fat assessed by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Dextrose-stimulated GLP-1 secretion and glucose/intralipid-stimulated secretion of PYY was significantly enhanced after surgery (Meirelles et al., 2009). In the same animal model, SG with IT, a technique without exclusion of the proximal small intestine, induced a similar weight loss and improvement in glucose homeostasis in comparison to GB (Boza et al., 2011b). However, SG alone also improved glucose homeostasis in ZDF rats, even without associated IT (Kadera et al., 2013; Lifante et al., 2012). Apparently, SG in ZDF acts through reduction in food intake, suppression of plasma ghrelin and increase in glucose homeostasis without significant changes in weight gain or effect on mentioned gut hormones. Interestingly, postprandial glucagon response was suppressed after DJB, and addition of DJB

to SG further improved glucose tolerance and decreased weight gain (Patel et al., 2013).

In a non-diabetic rodent model with diet-induced obesity (DIO), the transposition of a segment of the distal ileum to the proximal jejunum was able to promote a reduced food intake and weight gain in adult Long-Evans rats. In response to an oral gavage with D-Glucose, increased GLP-1 levels were observed in comparison to sham operated animals. Additionally, gavage with an intralipid solution produced an increased stimulated PYY secretion. Post mortem studies showed an overexpression of preglucagon mRNA and PYY mRNA in the transposed segment (Strader et al., 2005). In a later study, an improvement in glucose tolerance after IT was shown in low dose streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats and non-diabetic controls with a similar increase in gut hormones as described before (Strader et al., 2009). In the same animal model, SG and GB enhanced mixed-meal stimulated GLP-1 secretion. Insulin sensitivity assessed by hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp studies was improved after both surgical techniques (Chambers et al., 2011).

In DIO Sprague-Dawley rats, gastric bypass produced an increase in plasma PYY levels, however without affecting GLP-1 plasma levels (Suzuki et al., 2005). In the same model, weight loss or weight stabilization in comparison to an age-matched control group correlated to post-operative decrease in plasma ghrelin (Stylopoulos et al., 2005). Nonetheless, gut hormones in DIO rats were affected by SG alone and impaired postprandial GLP-1 secretion was restored to levels similar to those observed in lean controls (Al-Sabah et al., 2014). In other models for DIO using Wistar and Long-Evans rats, no improvement of insulin sensitivity was observed after DJB (Kindel et al., 2010), but an enhanced beta-cell secretory capacity was demonstrated (Araujo et al., 2012).

In a non-obese non-diabetic rodent model using Wistar rats, an increase in fasting PYY and GLP-1 was observed in animals submitted to jejuno-ileal bypass (le Roux et al., 2006) or BPD (Borg et al., 2007). After BPD in the same animal model, adaptive processes towards modulation of food intake were accompanied by an increased NPY expression in brain tissue (Nadreau et al., 2006). Comparing SG alone to SG plus IT in non-obese non-diabetic Sprague-Dawley rats, a similar expression of pancreatic GLP-1 producing cells was

observed after both procedures, but only animals submitted to SG plus IT showed and enhancement of ileal GLP-1 production (Johannessen et al., 2013). In the same rodent model, the length of the transposed ileum determined the amplitude of effects on gut hormones and glucose metabolism (Ramzy et al., 2014).

Based on the results of IT and its effects on enteroendocrine pathways and glucose homeostasis in animal research, de Paula and coworkers started an experimental clinical study in 39 diabetic patients with a body mass index from 23.4 – 35 kg/m2 (DePaula et al., 2008), not considered for bariatric surgery by international guidelines ("Gastrointestinal surgery for severe obesity: National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement.," 1992). Patients were submitted to ileal interposition (II)<sup>3</sup> plus SG (II-SG) or II plus diverted SG (II-DSG) with a direct anastomosis between the sectioned duodenum and the transposed ileal segment. After a mean follow-up of 7 months, 86.9% achieved an acceptable glycemic control and the remaining 13.1% improved. In a later publication, both surgical techniques proved to have a significant effect on postprandial plasma levels of gastrointestinal hormones. After a mean follow-up of 16 months (range 14 – 22 months), meal-stimulated secretion of GIP, GLP-1 and PYY increased, whereas plasma ghrelin levels were suppressed (DePaula et al., 2009). As expected, insulin sensitivity and glucose-stimulated beta-cell function improved significantly after both procedures (De Paula et al., 2011; Vencio et al., 2011). An update on results of the same center was published in 2012. After a mean follow-up of 39.1 months, 78.3% of 202 patients achieved a HbA1c <6.5%, without medication (DePaula et al., 2012). Another study from a different surgical center evaluated the results of II-SG in non-obese and obese patients with type 2 diabetes and showed remission (defined as a HbA1c level <6.5%) in 80% of patients, after a mean follow-up of 13 months (Tinoco et al., 2011). Using the same surgical technique (II-SG) in diabetic Indian patients, weather obese or not, diabetes remission was obtained in 47% of 42 patients after 6 months (Kota et al., 2012b). Results of II-DSG were markedly better with remission rates of 70.5% in 32 patients after a mean follow-up of 13.1 months (Kota et al., 2012a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Comparable to IT.

Based on experimental results of DJB in a lean animal model of type 2 diabetes, a small clinical study was conducted in 35 diabetic patients without substantial excess weight (BMI 28.4 $\pm$ 2.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). However, diabetes remission defined as HbA1c <7% off medication occurred in only 40% after 12 month of follow-up, without any significant weight loss (R. Cohen et al., 2012). Albeit an amelioration of glucose homeostasis in some patients, DJB without gastric resection did not show a beneficial effect on beta-cell function or insulin resistance in another study from the same group (Klein et al., 2012).

AIMS AND SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION

#### AIMS AND SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION

In the present study, we evaluate the effect of sleeve gastrectomy and gastric bypass on glycemic control and plasma gut hormone profiles in a lean rodent model of type 2 diabetes. Both surgical techniques represent safe and established approaches for the treatment of severe and morbid obesity in current clinical practice, but are not yet broadly used in lean patients or patients with mild obesity or simply overweight. Gastric bypass serves as a model that includes duodenal exclusion, whereas sleeve gastrectomy comprises no bypass of the gastrointestinal tract. Results are compared to lean non-diabetic rats.

Additionally, a clinical study in obese patients with impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes submitted to sleeve gastrectomy highlights the role of insulin resistance in the pathophysiology of glucose metabolism and mechanisms of post-surgical recovery.

Our investigation shall contribute to the understanding of changes in gut hormones profiles after accepted bariatric surgical techniques with or without duodenal exclusion and their future clinical usefulness in non-severely or morbidly obese patients with type 2 diabetes.

**MATERIAL AND METHODS** 

# MATERIAL AND METHODS<sup>4</sup>

# 1. Experimental Study

# 1.1. Animals

Twelve- to 14-week-old male GK rats and age-matched Wistar rats were obtained from local breeding colonies at the Laboratory for Experimental Research, Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal [Figure.1].



Figure 1 12- to 14-week-old male Goto-Kakizaki rats

All animals were maintained in a controlled environment with day-night cycles of 12 hours, a temperature of 22 – 24 °C, and a relative humidity of 50 – 60 percent. Animals had ad libitum access to water and standard rat chow supplied by Charles River, SAFE, France. In the first post-operative days, operated animals had additional access to a mixed liquid diet (Forticare<sup>®</sup>) supplied by Nutricia, Danone Group, France.

The study protocol regarding the use of laboratory animals was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal. After completing the study, 30 days after surgery, all animals were sacrificed by cervical displacement, according to the procedures approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Adapted from published articles or manuscripts submitted for publication.

# 1.2. Study Protocol and Surgical Techniques

Forty non-obese diabetic GK rats were randomly assigned to the following groups: control (GKC), sham surgery (GKSS), sleeve gastrectomy (GKSG), and gastric bypass (GKGB). Wistar rats (n=10) served as an additional non-diabetic control group (WIC). Before surgery or entering the control group, venous blood was sampled from the tail vein for determination of blood glucose level, glycated hemoglobin, cholesterol, and triglycerides, after an overnight fast, and, without previous fasting, for random glycemia.

Animals assigned to surgery (GKSS, GKSG, GKGB) were operated under intramuscular anesthesia using ketamine (75 mg / kg bodyweight, Pfizer Inc., New York, NY, USA) and chlorpromazine (3 mg / kg bodyweight, Laboratórios Vitória, Amadora, Portugal). After shaving the abdomen, skin was prepped with a 4% polividone-iodine solution (MEDA Pharma, Lisbon, Portugal). A midline incision was performed and the abdominal cavity entered. Surgery was performed accordingly to the randomization of animals. After completing surgery and rinsing the abdomen with sterile saline, meloxicam (1 mg / kg bodyweight, Boehringer Ingelheim GmbH, Ingelheim, Germany) in sterile saline was left in the peritoneal cavity for post-operative analgesia. The abdominal wall was closed in all animals by continuous mass closure with a 3/0 short-term absorbable suture of braided and coated polyglycolic acid (Safil Quick<sup>®</sup>, B Braun, Aesculap AG, Tuttlingen, Germany). Post-operative care included subcutaneous analgesia with meloxicam (1 mg / kg bodyweight) and oral antibiotics (doxycycline, 5 mg / kg bodyweight, Pfizer Inc., New York, NY, USA) mixed to drinking water during 5 days. Animals dying from post-operative complications (n=12) were replaced to maintain the original number of animals in groups.

Blood samples were repeated at four weeks for the same parameters as described above. Three to four days later, after an overnight fast, all animals were fed 3 cc of a mixed liquid diet (Forticare<sup>®</sup>) supplied by Nutricia, Danone Group, France. Blood samples were drawn by intra-cardiac puncture in the anesthetized animal before and after the oral fed at 10, 20, 30, 40, and 60 minutes for the dosage of plasma concentrations of the following pancreatic and

gut hormones: insulin, glucagon, GLP-1, PYY, and ghrelin. Animals were sacrificed afterwards as described above.

# 1.2.1 Sham Surgery

In animals assigned to sham surgery, the stomach was mobilized and a 3 cm incision in anterior gastric wall was performed. To resemble more complex surgical techniques, an interval of 20 minutes was observed before closing the gastric incision with a continuous extra-mucosal technique using a 4/0 mid-term absorbable synthetic glyconate monofilament thread (Monosyn<sup>®</sup>, B Braun, Aesculap AG, Tuttlingen, Germany).

# 1.2.2 Sleeve Gastrectomy

Sleeve gastrectomy was performed by dissection of the greater curvature including the lower part of the stomach and the aglandular forestomach with ligation of the short gastric vessels accordingly to a technique described before (de Bona Castelan et al., 2007; Lopez et al., 2009) [Figure 2A].



Figure 2 Rat GKSG#5: Sleeve gastrectomy

The stomach was sectioned over a bulldog clamp to fashion the gastric sleeve. The operative specimen, including most of the forestomach, was removed [Figure 2B]. The gastric wound was closed with a continuous invaginating extramucosal suture with a 4/0 mid-term absorbable synthetic glyconate monofilament thread as described above (Monosyn<sup>®</sup>, B Braun, Aesculap AG, Tuttlingen, Germany) [Figure 2C].

# 1.2.3 Gastric Bypass

Gastric bypass was done in a similar fashion as in humans and described in rats (Meguid et al., 2004). The mid portion of the stomach of animals allocated to gastric bypass was freed from adhesions on the greater and lesser curvature. Horizontal section of the stomach was performed leaving only a small rim of glandular stomach on the proximal part [Figure 3A]. The distal stomach was closed using a 4/0 mid-term absorbable monofilament suture (Monosyn<sup>®</sup>, B Braun, Aesculap AG, Tuttlingen, Germany), in an invaginating extra-mucosal technique [Figure 3B].





Beginning at the lesser curvature, the proximal stomach was closed in a similar fashion, leaving a small opening close to the greater curvature to perform the gastro-jejunal anastomosis. The angle of Treitz was identified and 10 cm were measured on the proximal jejunum. The jejunal loop was brought up to the proximal stomach and a 2 cm incision was made on the antimesenteric border of the bowel wall. The gastro-jejunal anastomosis was performed in an end-to-side fashion with a extramucosal continuous suture using a 5/0 mid-term absorbable synthetic monofilament suture of glyconate (Monosyn<sup>®</sup>, B Braun, Aesculap AG, Tuttlingen, Germany) [Figure 3C]. No mesenteric defects were closed.

# 1.3. Glucose, Lipids, Glycated Hemoglobin and Hormones

Glycemia was determined in the tail vein through a glucose-oxidase reaction using a commercially available glucometer with appropriate test strips (Glucometer Elite, Bayer SA, Portugal). Serum cholesterol and triglycerides were determined using a portable analyzer (Accutrend GCT, Roche Diagnostics, F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd., Switzerland). Glycated hemoglobin was measured using a Siemens DCA 2000+ Analyzer (Siemens AG, Germany).

GLP-1, PYY, ghrelin and glucagon were analyzed by competitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (Wako Pure Chemical Industries Ltd., Osaka, Japan and Peninsula Laboratories, LLC, Bachem Group, San Carlos, CA, USA), using specific antibodies that bind to sample and biotinylated tracer, respectively. A 96-well microtiter plate coated with a secondary antibody capturing the primary antibody bound to sample or tracer was subsequently submitted to a reaction of captured tracer with HRP-conjugated streptavidin, which produces a colored or fluorescent product after adding a substrate.

Plasma insulin was determined in a similar fashion using a non-competitive solid phase two-site enzyme immunoassay based on the sandwich technique (Mercodia AB, Uppsala, Sweden) where insulin in the sample reacts to specific antibodies bound to the microtiter plate and peroxidase-conjugated antibodies in a solution producing a colored solution together with a substrate.

Duplicate samples of all gut hormones were measured using a microplate reader with Gen5<sup>™</sup> software (Synergy HT, Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA).

Insulin sensitivity was assessed by a mathematical model (quantitative insulin sensitivity check index [QUICKI]) calculating the reciprocal index of the sum of logarithms for plasma glucose in mg/dL and plasma insulin in  $\mu$ U/mL as described elsewhere (Katz et al., 2000; Muniyappa et al., 2009). The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for post-prandial insulin and glucagon secretion using the trapezoidal method.

# 2. Clinical Study

# 2.1 Patients

From February 2008 to July 2010, SG as a stand-alone treatment for severe or morbid obesity was performed in 10 patients with T2D and 13 patients with IFG as defined by American Diabetes Association criteria (blood sugar  $\geq$  126 mg/dl or  $\geq$  100 mg and  $\leq$  125 mg/dl, respectively, or on antidiabetic medication). Six patients were on oral antidiabetics. 19 patients were female (82.6%) and mean age was 45.3±2.1 years (20 – 62 years). All patients were assessed preoperatively by a multidisciplinary team including surgeon, nutritionist and psychologist. Other medical specialties were involved accordingly to clinical requirements. Pre-operative work-up included ECG, chest radiography, upper endoscopy, abdominal ultrasound and blood testing with endocrine screening. After signing an informed consent, patients were submitted to laparoscopic SG. Peri-operatively, insulin was administered subcutaneously to control blood sugar levels. No post-operative complications occurred and all patients were dismissed from hospital on a liquid diet on day 2 after surgery.

Patients were reassessed at the outpatient department at day 9 and 1, 3, 6, 12, and 24 months after surgery. A soft diet was started in the third week after surgery and a solid diet 2 - 3 weeks later. At one month, subcutaneous insulin accordingly to blood sugar levels could be discontinued in all patients. BMI, fasting glycemia and fasting insulin (assessed by standard laboratorial methods in venous blood) were registered before and 3, 12 and 24 months after surgery. Patients with fasting blood glucose (FBG) <100 mg/dl without medication were considered in remission. Mean preoperative BMI was  $41.4\pm1.1$  kg/m2 (range  $33.4^5 - 52.4$  kg/m2), FBG was  $122.9\pm6.7$  mg/dl (range  $97^6 - 254$  mg/dl) and fasting insulin was  $22.6\pm2.4$  µIU/ml (range 4.6 - 41.8 µIU/ml). Beta-cell function and insulin resistance were calculated from fasting glucose and insulin using the updated homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) calculator version 2.2, available from the Diabetes Trials Unit website (http://www.dtu.ox.ac.uk) (Levy et al., 1998; Matthews et al., 1985). Twenty-two out of 23 patients were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> One patient with BMI < 35 kg/m2 at date of surgery due to standard pre-operative diet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> One patient on oral antidiabetics with fasting glycemia < 100 mg/dl.

available for follow up at 3 months, 20 out of 23 patients at 12 months, and 18 out of 23 patients at 24 months.

#### 2.2 Surgical Technique

Laparoscopic SG was carried out under general anesthesia, eventually combined with a thoracic epidural catheter, in a standardized fashion using a 4-port technique and a Nathanson liver retractor inserted through a separate epigastric incision.



Figure 4 Patient 9: Gastric mobilization

During surgery, special attention was given to a complete mobilization of the gastric fundus and the His' angle, with complete dissection of retrogastric adhesions [Figure 4A - 4C].



Figure 5 Patient 9: Gastric transection and oversewing of the staple line

The stomach was transected over a 36F bougie beginning 4 – 6 cm from the pylorus using an endoscopic stapler with 6 cm cartridges and adequate staple height regarding the thickness of the gastric wall [Figure 5 A]. The staple line was oversewn with a running suture using a 2/0 mid-term absorbable synthetic glyconate monofilament thread in all patients [Figure 5B, 5C]. A suction drain was left routinely in the beginning of the experience.

#### 3. Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) regarding the number of experiments described. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess if samples were extracted from a variable that follows a normal distribution. For samples extracted from normally distributed variables, the Student's t-test was used to compare means of two independent samples. For non-normally distributed variables, the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test was used to reject or keep the null hypothesis that there were no differences in means of groups (H<sub>0</sub>:  $\mu_1 = \mu_2$ ). Differences were considered statistically significant at a level of 95% (p < 0.05).

To reduce type I errors induced by repeated t-tests, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was employed to describe differences between more than two groups regarding the same variable or repeated measures of a variable in the same group, if normal distribution and homogeneity of variance assessed by the modified Levene's test could be assumed. The Tukey's HSD (honest significant difference) test was used to perform post-hoc comparisons between samples. Variables presented either with distribution that non-normal or heteroscedasticity were analyzed using the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis and post-hoc analysis including multiple pairwise comparisons using the Steel-Dwass-Critchlow-Fligner procedure test (Adams et al., 2009; Ferreira et al., 2012; Kruskal and Wallis, 1952; Van Hecke, 2010).

# **RESULTS**

# **RESULTS<sup>7</sup>**

# 1. Experimental Study

# 1.1. Weight and Lipids

Wistar rats were heavier than age-matched GK rats [Table 1]. Animals in control groups (WIC, GKC) or submitted to sham surgery (GKSS) sustained statistically significant weight gain during the observation period. No significant weight changes occurred in the groups submitted to SG (GKSG) or GB (GKGB), if compared to pre-operative data [Table 1].

Pre-operative values for serum cholesterol were similar in all groups. Rats submitted to gastric bypass experienced a small but statistically significant amelioration of pre-operative values (p < 0.005), whereas rats submitted to SG did not sustain any significant alteration [Table 1]. Multiple comparison by ANOVA with post-hoc analysis revealed that, in comparison to both control groups (WIC, GKC) and GKSS, post-operative serum cholesterol was significantly lower in GKGB.

All groups sustained a decrease of serum triglycerides during the observation period [Table 1]. However, only in rats submitted to SG the amelioration of serum triglycerides was statistically significant if compared to pre-operative values (p < 0.05). The comparison of serum triglycerides between groups at the end of the observation period showed no statistically significant difference [Table 1].

# 1.2. Glucose Metabolism

Fasting glycemias at baseline were similar in all groups ( $78\pm2.1 - 106\pm13.0$  mg/dl), except for GKSS. Due to maturation of young animals, WIC presented with significantly lower fasting glycemias ( $72\pm3.9$  mg/dl) than GK rats in all groups ( $106\pm4.9 - 136\pm9.2$  mg/dl) at the end of the observation period. Random glycemias at the end of the observation period were also lower in WIC ( $87\pm2.4$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Adapted from published articles or manuscripts submitted for publication.

mg/dl) in comparison to GK rats (p<0.02), except for rats submitted to SG (106±12.3 mg/dl) [Table 1].

	WIC	GKC	GKSS	GKSG	GKGB
Weight (g) baseline	328±11.9 <sup>a</sup>	256±9.0	270±13.4	277±7.3	284±9.2
Weight (g) 4 weeks	388±9.1*** <sup>b</sup>	308±8.0***	330±11.5**	296±17.8	303±12.5
Fasting glycemia (mg/dl) baseline	78±2.1 <sup>c</sup>	102±11.3	110±10.9	97±8.3	106±13.0
Fasting glycemia (mg/dl) 4 weeks	72±3.9 <sup>d</sup>	106±4.9	111±5.7	112±5.3*	136±9.2*
Random glycemia (mg/dl) 4 weeks	87±2.4 <sup>e</sup>	169±30.4	153±20.5	106±12.3	129±13.2
HbA1c (%) baseline	3.5±0.1 <sup>d</sup>	4.8±0.3	4.8±0.3	5.1±0.3	5.0±0.3
HbA1c (%) 4 weeks	3.3±0.1 <sup>b</sup>	5.0±0.2	4.6±0.2	3.8±0.1*** <sup>f</sup>	4.0±0.2 <sup>*g</sup>
Cholesterol (mg/dl) baseline	161±2.1	159±1.6	164±1.2	161±1.4	163±1.9
Cholesterol (mg/dl) 4 weeks	162±1.4	164±1.4	162±1.5	158±1.9	156±1.1*** <sup>h</sup>
Triglycerides (mg/dl) baseline	123±5.5	128±11.2	142±18.3	134±8.8	123±4.2
Triglycerides (mg/dl) 4 weeks	115±5.0	114±6.4	116±12.0	106±6.3*	108±11.6

 Table 1
 Experimental study in 50 rats: Weight, blood glucose, glycated hemoglobin and lipids at baseline and four weeks after surgery

WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). All values are given with standard error of the mean (SEM). The Mann-Whitney test or Student's t-test were used to assess for differences between baseline and values at the end of the observation period (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.005). The Kruskal-Wallis test or ANOVA were used to assess for intergroup differences (<sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSG, GKGB; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKGB; <sup>c</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKGB; <sup>e</sup>p<0.02 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKGB; <sup>f</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKGB; <sup>g</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS).

Overall glycemic control assessed by determination of HbA1c was significantly improved in GK rats submitted to SG (p < 0.005) or GB (p < 0.05), when compared to pre-operative values [Table 1]. Wistar rats also improved their levels of HbA1c during the observation period, but without statistical significance. No amelioration was observed in either sham operated or control group GK rats. Comparing overall glycemic control at the end of the observation period between groups, GKSG rats showed statistically significant improvement in comparison to GKC and GKSS [Table 1]. No significant difference in comparison to animals submitted to GB was observed. Despite of statistically significant amelioration of overall glycemic control in GK rats submitted to either
SG or GB, animals in these two groups did not achieve a glycemic control comparable to WIC (p < 0.05).

#### 1.3. Insulin and Insulin Sensitivity

Fasting plasma insulin levels were similar in Wistar and GK rats, whether submitted to surgery or not. Meal induced plasma insulin concentrations at 20 minutes were significantly higher in GK rats (all groups) in comparison to WIC (p<0.05). At 30 minutes, plasma insulin was highest in GKSG (17.48±0.75  $\mu$ g/L; p<0.05 in comparison to all other groups) and lowest in GKGB (9.21±0.39  $\mu$ g/L). Similar results were observed at 40 minutes. However, at 60 minutes both GKSG and GKGB presented with lower plasma insulin than other groups (5.95±0.28 and 4.77±0.63  $\mu$ g/L; p<0.05). Time series revealed a significant rise in comparison to baseline at 20 minutes in all groups (p<0.05), but whereas GKC and GKSS maintained similar values throughout all following timepoints, a significant reduction in plasma insulin concentration was observed in WIC, GKSG and GKGB at 60 minutes in comparison to the previous timepoint (p<0.05) [Figure 6].

Total insulin secretion during the first 60 minutes after a liquid mixed-meal expressed as AUC was highest in GKC ( $614\pm18.3 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$  h; p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS, GKGB) and lowest in GKGB ( $396\pm15.3 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$  h; p<0.05 in comparison to all other GK). Differences between Wistar and GK rats in all groups were not statistically significant [Table 2].

Insulin sensitivity was assessed using QUICKI as described above. GK rats in the control group and submitted to sham surgery presented with a lower insulin sensitivity ( $0.2601\pm2.5^{-3}$  and  $0.25\pm5.3^{-3}$ , respectively) than Wistar rats ( $0.284\pm1.9^{-3}$ ; p<0.05). GKSG and GKGB had slightly improved indexes in comparison to GKC and GKSS, and no significant differences in comparison to Wistar rats were observed [Table 2].



**Figure 6** Insulin – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKGB; <sup>\*\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GK (all subgroups); <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS, GKGB; <sup>§\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSG, GKGB; <sup>##</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to all other groups; <sup>&</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSG; <sup>f\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS, GKGB; <sup>§\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSG; <sup>f\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSG, GKGB; <sup>f\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSC, GKSS, <sup>§\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS; <sup>§\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSS. <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS, <sup>f\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS. <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS; <sup>§\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to BIC, GKC, GKSS. <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to BIC, GKC, GKSS.

#### 1.4. Glucagon and Glucagon-Insulin Ratio

GK rats submitted to gastric bypass presented with higher fasting plasma glucagon than all other groups (405.86±30.14 pg/mL; p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSG) and maintained this pattern at 10 and 20 minutes after the test meal. However, at 30 minutes plasma glucagon increased significantly in rats submitted to SG (676.04±18.01 pg/mL), as well as, to a lesser extent, in rats submitted to GB (652.37±39.69 pg/mL). Hormone levels remained stable at a high level in both groups up to 60 minutes (p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSS for GKSG; p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS for GKGB). In all control groups, a slight and not statistically significant increase in plasma glucagon was observed at 30 minutes, without any further change [Figure 7]. Total glucagon secretion during the postprandial period described as AUC was significantly higher in GKSG (29.9±0.8 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> h) and GKGB (31.5±1.7 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> h) in comparison to GKC (15.0±3.0 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> h) and GKSS (18.1±2.0 ng mL<sup>-1</sup> h) [Table 2].

 Table 2
 Experimental study in 50 rats: Insulin sensitivity, plasma insulin, and glucagon at four weeks after surgery

	WIC	GKC	GKSS	GKSG	GKGB
Insulin sensitivity (QUICKI) 4 weeks	0.284±1.9 <sup>-3 a</sup>	0.2601±2.5 <sup>-3</sup>	0.25±5.3 <sup>-3</sup>	$0.2678\pm6.4^{-3}$	$0.2659 \pm 4.4^{-3}$
Insulin AUC (µg L <sup>-1</sup> h) 4 weeks	532±29.3	614±18.3 <sup>b</sup>	521±12.6	592±19.6 <sup>°</sup>	396±15.3 <sup>d</sup>
Glucagon AUC (ng ml⁻¹ h) 4 weeks	22.9±2.7	15.0±3.0	18.1±2.0	29.9±0.8 <sup>a</sup>	31.5±1.7 <sup>a</sup>

WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass), AUC (= area under the curve). All values are given with standard error of the mean (SEM). The Kruskal-Wallis test was used to assess for intergroup differences ( ${}^{a}p$ <0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS;  ${}^{b}p$ <0.05 in comparison to GKCS;  ${}^{c}p$ <0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKSG).



**Figure 7** Glucagon – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSG; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSS; <sup>\*\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS. <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint; <sup>c</sup>p<0.01 in comparison to baseline.

Calculation of glucagon-insulin ratio (GIR) revealed higher values for GKGB in comparison to GKC and GKSS at baseline (p<0.05) and to GKC, GKSS and GKSG (p<0.05) at 10 minutes after the test meal. However, a significant decrease in GIR occurred at 20 minutes (p<0.05). At this timepoint, WIC maintained a stable GIR (1.0-4 $\pm$ 1.68-5) in comparison to previous timepoints, significantly higher (p<0.05) than GIR in GK rats (all groups). However, at all following timepoints up to 60 minutes GKGB showed an increased GIR in comparison to all control groups (p<0.05). GK rats submitted to sleeve gastrectomy showed a significant increase in GIR at 60 minutes (1.26-4 $\pm$ 6.1-6), achieving a ratio similar to GKGB, and higher than other groups (p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSS) [Figure 8].

#### 1.5. Ghrelin

Regarding fasting ghrelin, no differences between groups were observed. However, after administration of a mixed liquid meal as described above, GK rats submitted to SG or GB sustained a significant decrease in plasma ghrelin, 30 minutes after the test meal that was maintained up to 60 minutes, without any further significant changes. WIC showed a similar pattern, whereas GKC and GKSS sustained no significant change in plasma ghrelin at the defined time points [Figure 9].

Ten and 20 minutes after the test meal, no difference in plasma ghrelin were observed between groups. At 30 min, WIC, GKSG, and GKGB showed a significant decrease in comparison to GKC. At 40 minutes, plasma ghrelin levels were significantly lower in GKSG in comparison to WIC, GKC and GKSS. Both GKSG and GKGB expressed significantly lower plasma ghrelin levels in comparison to control groups (WIC, GKC), 60 minutes after the test meal [Figure 9].



**Figure 8** Glucagon-insulin ratio – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS; <sup>\*\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKSG; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint.



**Figure 9** Ghrelin – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKC; \*\*p<0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC, GKSS;  $p^{0}$ <0.05 in comparison to WIC, GKC. <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint; <sup>c</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>d</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint.

## 1.6. Peptide Tyrosine Tyrosine

Wistar rats presented with significantly higher fasting PYY levels than GK rats, independent of allocated treatment. Postprandial, there was a significant rise of plasma PYY in WIC, 30 minutes and 60 minutes after the test meal. GK rats in both control groups showed a slow rise in postprandial PYY, beginning at 40 minutes. However, GKGB showed a significant rise in PYY levels at all time points, starting as early as ten minutes postprandially. GKSG showed a similar pattern, starting 20 minutes after the test meal [Figure 10].

No significant differences in plasma PYY were observed between WIC and GKGB, ten minutes after the test meal. At 20 minutes, GK rats in both control groups (GKC, GKSS) had significantly lower plasma PPY levels than all other groups. At this time point, no differences were observed between WIC and GKSG or GKGB. GK rats in both control groups (GKC, GKSS) maintained significantly lower plasma PYY at all time points from 20 minutes onwards, in comparison to WIC and GK rats allocated to SG or GB. However, GKGB showed significantly higher levels in postprandial plasma PYY than GKSG, up to 60 min after the test meal [Figure 10].

## 1.7. Glucagon-like Peptide-1

Fasting levels of GLP-1 were higher in GK rats in comparison to Wistar rats, particularly in animals submitted to SG or GB (p<0.05). After administration of the test meal, a significant rise in plasma GLP-1 was observed in WIC, as early as ten minutes postprandial, with another significant increment during the next ten minutes. GKSG experienced a similar rise in GLP-1 after the test meal, starting a little later at 20 min, whereas GKGB sustained a significant increment in plasma GLP-1 at 30 min, reaching a plateau thereafter. Only a very small meal-induced rise in plasma GLP-1 was observed in GK rats in both control groups [Figure 11].



**Figure 10** PYY – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKSG, GKGB; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKSG, GKGB; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS, GKSG, GKGB; \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKSG; <sup>§</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSG, GKGB; \*\*p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; <sup>b</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint; <sup>c</sup>p<0.005 in comparison to baseline, <sup>d</sup>p<0.005 in comparison to previous timepoint.



**Figure 11** GLP-1 – meal-induced response. WIC (= Wistar rats – control), GKC (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – control), GKSS (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sham surgery), GKSG (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – sleeve gastrectomy), GKGB (= Goto-Kakizaki rats – gastric bypass). Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis: \*p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS, GKSG, GKGB; <sup>\*\*</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS; <sup>\$</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKSS; <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to GKC, GKSS; <sup>\$</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to all other groups. <sup>a</sup>p<0.05 in comparison to previous timepoint.

Plasma levels of GLP-1 reached similar values in Wistar and GKSG or GKGB as soon as ten minutes postprandial. GLP-1 levels in these three groups were significantly higher in comparison to GK rats in both control groups at all time points postprandial. Plasma GLP-1 was significantly higher in GKSG and GKGB when compared to Wistar rats, 30 and 40 minutes after the test meal. However, no more significant differences could be observed between these three groups, 60 minutes postprandial [Figure 11].

#### 2. Clinical study

After SG, a significant decrease in BMI occurred, as early as 3 month after surgery (BMI 33.0±1.0 kg/m2). Maximum weight loss occurred until one year after surgery (BMI 27.8±0.7 kg/m2) and remained stable at 2 years of follow-up (BMI 28.3±0.8 kg/m2). Post-operative BMI was significantly lower than preoperative BMI at all time points (p<0.001, ANOVA with post-hoc analysis) [Figure 12].











**Figure 12** Clinical study in 23 patients submitted to sleeve gastrectomy: Pre- and post-operative body mass index, fasting blood glucose, fasting insulin, insulin resistance, and beta-cell function. BMI (= body mass index). ANOVA and Tukey HSD post-hoc analysis (Kruskal-Wallis test with post-hoc analysis for fasting insulin and insulin resistance): \*p<0.05 in comparison to baseline; \*\*p<0.001 in comparison to results at 3 months;  $^{\text{e}}$ p<0.05 in comparison to results at 3 months.

Fasting blood glucose decreased from 122.9 $\pm$ 6.7 mg/dl to 93.0 $\pm$ 4.0 mg/dl (3 months), 88.3 $\pm$ 2.7 mg/dl (12 months), and 89.8 $\pm$ 2.9 mg/dl (24 months). Differences between all post-operative time points and pre-operative values were statistically significant (p<0.001, ANOVA with post-hoc analysis), but after 3 months of follow-up, fasting glycemias remained stable, despite continuing weight loss until 12 months of follow-up [Figure 12]. In 87.5% of patients, fasting blood glucose normalized completely to <100 mg/dl. Concomitantly, fasting insulin fell from 22.6 $\pm$ 2.4 µIU/ml pre-operatively to 8.7 $\pm$ 1.1 µIU/ml at 3 months, 6.5 $\pm$ 0.9 µIU/ml at 1 year, and 5.6 $\pm$ 1.1 µIU/ml at 2 years. Statistical analysis showed a significant decrease as early as 3 months after surgery, without any significant changes thereafter (p<0.001, Kruskal-Wallis-Test) [Figure 12].

Mean pre-operative beta-cell function calculated by the updated homeostasis model assessment using a computer program (HOMA2), was slightly above normal (117.8±9.9%), but three patients presented with a beta-cell function <40%, whereas in all other patients function was >70%. During follow-up, mean beta-cell function decreased slightly but not significantly to 105.1±13.2% at 3 months.

	P1 pre-op.	<b>P1</b> 2 years	P2 pre-op.	<b>P2</b> 2 years	P3 pre-op.	<b>P3</b> 2 years
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	33.9*	26.0	45.1	29.3	36.6	29.7
FBG (mg/dl)	137	109	143	82	254	118
Fasting insulin (µIU/mI)	5.6	4.3	8.1	9.9	14.0	9.8
Beta-cell function (%)	33.3	43.8	39.8	66.5	21.7	50.6
Insulin resistance	0.8	0.6	1.2	0.4	2.4	0.9

 Table 3
 Body mass index, beta-cell function and insulin resistance in three patients with impaired pre-operative beta-cell function

BMI (= body mass index), FBG (= fasting blood glucose), P1/2/3 (= patient 1/2/3). \*Patient 1 presented with a BMI < 35 kg/m2 at surgery due to standard pre-operative low-calorie diet. Patients available for follow-up: 22/23 at 3 months; 20/23 at 12 months; 18/23 at 24 months.

A significant decline in beta-cell function (p<0.05) was observed at 1 year (79.6±5.0%) and at 2 years (78.4±9.8%) [Figure 12]. Interestingly, there was a

slight improvement in patients with a very low pre-operative beta-cell function [Table 3]. Insulin resistance dropped sharply during the first three months from 3-fold increased mean pre-operated values  $(3.05\pm0.31)$  to  $1.14\pm0.13$  (p<0.001). Another slight decrease was observed during the first year after surgery  $(0.72\pm0.06, p<0.05)$ , stabilizing thereafter  $(0.75\pm0.13)$  [Figure 12]. Before surgery, 69.6% of patients presented with a markedly increased insulin resistance (>2.0) that decrease to normal or below-normal values (<1.0) in 86.7%.

# DISCUSSION

# **DISCUSSION<sup>8</sup>**

In our lean animal model of T2D, overall glycemic control assessed by HbA1c levels improved after SG and GB. Surprisingly, meal-induced insulin secretion diminished after surgery, particularly in rats submitted to GB. However, the reduction in insulin secretion was accompanied by increased insulin sensitivity. Postprandial glucagon secretion was significantly enhanced after surgical procedures, both in comparison to GKC and GKSS rats, as well as non-diabetic Wistar rats. In GKGB, GIR started to increase 30 minutes after the test meal and remained high throughout the observation period. GKSG showed a similar high GIR at 60 minutes. Meal-induced plasma levels of ghrelin, PYY, and GLP-1 were significantly modified by surgical interventions. Although there was no difference in fasting plasma ghrelin levels between groups, WIC and GK rats submitted to either SG or GB sustained a similar postprandial decrease in plasma ghrelin. Wistar rats presented with different levels in fasting PYY and GLP-1 in comparison to GK rats. However, meal induced response was similar in Wistar and in GK rats submitted to SG or GB. GK rats in the control group (GKC) or submitted to sham surgery (GKSS) sustained no improvement of glucose metabolism during the observation period and were characterized by reduced insulin sensitivity, the absence of a significant meal-reduced suppression of ghrelin, as well as a flattened meal-induced increase of PYY and GLP-1.

The results of our study showed no amelioration in fasting glucose in animals submitted to both SG or GB (which incorporates duodenal exclusion) and contrast with previous findings regarding the effects of GB, duodenal exclusion or SG on fasting glucose in GK rats (Donglei et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011; Pacheco et al., 2007; Rubino and Marescaux, 2004). Nevertheless, other studies could not find significant differences in fasting glucose in GK rats submitted to GJB or other forms of duodenal exclusion in comparison to controls, which is consistent with our results (de Luis et al., 2012; Kindel et al., 2009). However, our study could show amelioration in overall glycemic control

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Adapted from published articles or manuscripts submitted for publication.

demonstrated by improved glycated hemoglobin levels in GK rats submitted to SG or GB, not assessed in any of the previous studies.

Analogies regarding beta-cell dysfunction in human T2D and GK rats include reduction in beta-cell mass, alterations in microenvironment in islets, and multiple functional deficits (Portha et al., 2009; Seica et al., 2003b). As expected, GK rats in the present study showed an impaired metabolic control in comparison to Wistar rats, with significantly worse levels of HbA1c at the beginning and at the end of the observation period. However, rats submitted to SG or GB improved their HbA1c levels significantly, although meal induced insulin secretion (expressed as AUC) did not change (GKSG) or even diminished (GKGB). A similar reduction in insulin secretion has been observed after GJB (Weng et al., 2013). Fasting insulin levels do not seem to be affected by surgery (Donglei et al., 2012). Nevertheless, other studies reported conflicting results after a prolonged follow-up (Speck et al., 2011; Trung et al., 2013). Possibly, the improved insulin sensitivity observed in our study might have contributed to amelioration of glucose metabolism. Furthermore, a decrease in insulin resistance and enhanced glycemic control has been also described after dietary restriction in GK rats, together with modulation of systemic and muscle oxidative stress markers (Rodrigues et al., 2011).

Glucagon secreted from pancreatic α-cells acts as a counterregulatory hormone for insulin and promotes elevation of blood glucose by hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis (Jiang and Zhang, 2003). Consequently, a role in the pathophysiology of T2D has been proposed (Quesada et al., 2008; Unger and Orci, 1975; Unger, 1985). Besides secretion in response to low plasma glucose levels, plasma concentration of glucagon is modulated by insulin at an intra-islet level inhibiting secretion at high insulin levels (Bansal and Wang, 2008). Interestingly, the results of our study showed stable levels of plasma glucagon during the postprandial period with a slight rise at 30 minutes in WIC, GKC and GKSS, following a significant increase in plasma insulin at 20 minutes in GK rats (at 30 minutes in WIC). Apparently, no inhibition of glucagon secretion did occur. In rats submitted to SG or GB, a significant increase in plasma glucagon followed a rise in plasma insulin, but with a descending glucagon-insulin ratio that recovered at 60 minutes. Although an increased fasting plasma glucagon

and a delayed glucose-stimulated suppression has been described in humans with T2D (Knop et al., 2012), meal-induced or glucose-stimulated glucagon secretion increased after SG, albeit an improved glucose tolerance (Laferrère et al., 2008; Salehi et al., 2011). A similar postprandial rise in glucagon has been observed in humans with type 1 diabetes, not submitted to surgery, whereas glucagon in  $\beta$ -cell competent individuals remained stable (Cooperberg and Cryer, 2009), suggesting other stimuli for glucagon secretion besides hypoglycemia or decrease of insulin secretion during hypoglycemia.

Impaired pathways regarding the inhibitory effect of hyperglycemia on glucagon secretion, referred to as  $\alpha$ -cell resistance, have been identified in studies of  $\alpha$ -cell lines (Xu et al., 2006). Interestingly, a switch-off signal from zinc atoms, whether bound to insulin or not, also seems to be involved in initiating glucagon release from the alpha-cell, as could be shown in streptozotocin-induced diabetic Wistar rats (Zhou et al., 2007). The removal of somatostatin-mediated inhibition of glucagon secretion via pancreatic delta-cells by sympathetic activation may further contribute to inadequate glucagon secretion (Hauge-Evans et al., 2010). As suggested by present data, the multifactorial regulation of glucagon secretion and its importance regarding glucose metabolism need to be further elucidated.

The results of our study refer to meal-induced plasma levels of insulin and glucagon regarding a specific type of liquid diet and results may vary with carbohydrate content (Gutniak et al., 1986). Analysis of glucose metabolism was carried out rather early after surgery and might not reflect changes after a more prolonged follow-up. As such, data should be interpreted with caution regarding the long-term impact of bariatric and metabolic surgical procedures on plasma glucagon. However, our data questions the role of hyperglucagonemia in glucose intolerance in a lean animal model of type 2 diabetes and suggests that the role of glucagon in glucose metabolism after bariatric and metabolic surgery deserves further studies.

In obese humans, reported effects of bariatric surgery on fasting ghrelin are contradictory indicating either a reduction after surgery (Cummings et al., 2002; Frühbeck et al., 2004b), or unchanged fasting plasma ghrelin levels in weightstable patients. In patients experiencing active weight loss after gastric bypass surgery, even an increase in fasting ghrelin was observed (Borg et al., 2006; Faraj et al., 2003; Holdstock et al., 2003).

In an animal model, GK rats submitted to either SG alone or SG with duodenaljejunal bypass (SGDJB) showed significantly reduced fasting ghrelin in comparison to controls, two and 16 weeks after surgery (Sun et al., 2012). Similar results were reported by Trung and coworkers regarding fasting levels of des-acyl ghrelin in GK rats and diet-induced obese Wistar rats after sleeve gastrectomy (Trung et al., 2013). No meal-induced measurements were made in both studies.

In contrast, our study did not show any differences in fasting ghrelin between Wistar and GK rats, independent of allocated treatment. Also in a non-diabetic animal model on a high-fat diet, fasting ghrelin levels were similar after GB in comparison to pair-fed controls. However, a significant meal-induced suppression was observed in rats submitted to GB (Shin et al., 2010). Our data showed a significant meal-induced decrease in plasma ghrelin in Wistar rats, not observed in control or sham operated GK rats. Interestingly, a similar postprandial suppression of plasma ghrelin was present in GK rats submitted to SG or GB. Apparently, the dynamic meal-induced response in plasma ghrelin is the distinguishing feature of operated GK rats in comparison to GK controls. As this dynamic response was also present in non-diabetic Wistar rats, our data might indicate that SG and GB restored an apparent defect in meal-induced suppression of plasma ghrelin in GK rats. A recent clinical study showed an analogous association between postprandial ghrelin suppression and postoperative weight loss, insulin sensitivity, and peak GLP-1 secretion in obese diabetic patients submitted to gastric bypass (Samat et al., 2013). Hence, fasting plasma ghrelin levels seem to represent a subordinate factor regarding the effects of surgery.

Ileal interposition in a rodent model of T2D with mild obesity (UCD-T2DM rats) showed ameliorated glucose tolerance and reduced fasting glucose levels, eight months after surgery. Stimulated PYY levels by an oral lipid load were significantly higher than in sham operated animals (Cummings et al., 2010). In another study, SG and SGDJB in GK rats had similar effects on fasting and

Page | 93

stimulated PYY levels, two and 16 weeks after surgery. A significant increase was observed in comparison to sham operated animals and control group at all time points (Sun et al., 2012). In contrast, our study showed no increase in fasting PYY after either SG or GB. Meal-induced PYY levels were significantly increased in GK rats submitted to GB or SG in comparison to sham-operated animals or controls. However, postprandial peak PYY levels after GB were significantly higher than after SG.

In a clinical study, including 58 normal-weight, overweight, or mildly obese diabetic patients submitted to SG with an additional intestinal procedure (ileal interposition or ileal interposition with diversion of the duodenum), improved glycemic control after surgery was observed in over 90% of cases. Hormonal evaluation before and after a mixed meal showed a significant increase in plasma PYY at all time points (fasting, 30 minutes, 60 minutes, 120 minutes). Also fasting and meal-stimulated GLP-1 levels increased significantly after both operations (DePaula et al., 2009). Nonetheless, the specific contribution of either component of the surgical procedure (SG or ileal interposition) regarding changes in gut hormone profiles and glycemic control could not be assessed.

In our lean animal model of T2D, SG alone would increment meal-induced plasma levels of GLP-1 without duodenal diversion or ileal interposition. Similar results were obtained after GB. In diabetic rodents with mild obesity (UCD-T2DM rats), ileal interposition without SG would increment meal-induced response in plasma GLP-1 (Cummings et al., 2010). Interestingly, glucose-stimulated GLP-1 levels in GK rats were significantly higher after SG with duodenal-jejunal bypass than after SG alone, but no measurements after a mixed meal were obtained. Moreover, overall glycemic control was not enhanced by SGDJB in comparison to SG alone (Sun et al., 2012).

In non-diabetic obese patients no significant differences between SG and GB regarding the postoperative meal-induced increment in PYY and GLP-1 could be found (Peterli et al., 2012). To our knowledge, no similar studies have been carried out in non-severely or morbidly obese diabetic patients. A recent study in obese diabetic patients compared the effects of BPD with a long alimentary limb and SG on glycemic control and gut hormones. No significant differences regarding diabetes control and glucose-stimulated increment in GLP-1 and PYY

were found between groups (Tsoli et al., 2013). However, treatment arms were not randomized and indication for surgical intervention was based on BMI (all patients with BMI > 50 kg/m2 were assigned to open BPD).

As could be shown in the present study, and somewhat intriguingly, SG and GB showed similar meal-induced responses in gut hormones like PYY and GLP-1 secreted by L-cells present in the distal ileum. Hence, mechanisms other than direct contact of food with the intestinal mucosa are probably involved in the secretion of gut hormones, yet to be explored. However, the importance of intra-duodenal fat hydrolysis on GLP-1 secretion was documented in healthy volunteers that received an intra-duodenal fat infusion with or without a irreversible inhibitor of gastro-intestinal lipases (orlistat). Moreover, the effect of intra-duodenal fat hydrolysis was more pronounced after the infusion of long-chain fatty acids and apparently mediated by cholecystokinin as the selective blockade of the CCK-1 receptor would abolish the effect of fat hydrolysis on GLP-1 secretion (Beglinger et al., 2010).

In general, gastrointestinal surgical procedures like SG or GB improve diabetes control and represent an accepted therapeutic option, at least in obese patients (American Diabetes Association, 2014; Dixon et al., 2011). They have a well-documented effect on the secretion of gut hormones that, by themselves, are believed to exert a favorable influence on glucose homeostasis. In diabetic patients, the subcutaneous administration of GLP-1 analogues improves glycemic control, supposedly through stimulation of glucose-dependent insulin secretion and suppression of glucagon secretion (Shyangdan et al., 2010). Furthermore, symptomatic hyperinsulinism after GB was controlled by administration of Exendin 9-39, a GLP-1 receptor antagonist, indicating a significant role for the insulinotropic action of GLP-1 after bariatric surgery (Salehi et al., 2014, 2011). Moreover, the favorable effects of IT on glucose tolerance after oral glucose administration in diet-induced obese Long-Evans rats was reversible after administration of Exendin 9-39, supporting evidence of direct effects of GLP-1 on glucose homeostasis (Gaitonde et al., 2012).

As shown in the present study, meal-induced secretion of GLP-1 is enhanced after surgery in GK rats and becomes similar to secretion in non-diabetic Wistar rats. However, concerning pancreatic hormone secretion, improvement of glucose homeostasis was not associated with an enhanced meal-induced insulin secretion. Furthermore, a study on the effect of SG on weight loss and glucose tolerance in GLP-1 receptor-deficient mice and wild-type controls showed that post-procedural improvement was similar in both groups (Wilson-Pérez et al., 2013). Consequently, other factors than direct stimulation of insulin secretion through surgically enhanced GLP-1 plasma levels are possibly involved in ameliorated glycemic control (Vidal and Jiménez, 2013). However, reduced meal-stimulated increase in GLP-1 secretion was associated with failed weight loss after GB (de Hollanda et al., 2014). Thus, GLP-1 secretion seems to be associated rather indirectly with improvement of glucose tolerance after metabolic surgery and not through direct stimulation of insulin secretion.

A recent and intriguing approach to further clarify the improvement of glucose homeostasis after GB refers to reprogramming of intestinal glucose metabolism, including up-regulation of glucose transporter-1 and enhanced basolateral glucose uptake. Apparently, increased metabolic needs of the intestine and exposure of the Roux limb to undigested nutrients render the gut a major tissue for glucose disposal (Saeidi et al., 2013). Furthermore, modulation of inflammatory responses through gut microbiota may contribute to reduced insulin sensitivity in diabetic subjects and probiotics are under investigation concerning their potential to change the course of disease (Gomes et al., 2014; Tilg and Moschen, 2014). However, the true contribution of these new concepts to the understanding of the pathophysiology of T2D and diabetes remission after surgery remains to be elucidated and was not targeted by our research plan.

The results of our experimental study refer to postprandial gut hormone profiles in anesthetized rodents and may not reflect entirely normal physiology. As many drugs used for induction or maintenance of anesthesia, ketamine and chlorpromazine used in the present study produce anticholinergic side effects. It has already been shown that acetylcholine enhances ghrelin secretion in the isolated rat stomach and in humans (Broglio et al., 2004b; Shrestha et al., 2009) and its inhibition might alter plasma ghrelin levels. However, as all animals in the present study were submitted to the same anesthetic protocol, no influence on observed differences between groups must be assumed. Our clinical study showed that obese patients with impaired fasting glucose or T2D improved their metabolic control after SG and achieved a sustained weight loss up to 24 months of follow-up. High preoperative plasma insulin levels decreased significantly as early as 3 months after surgery, without any significant further change during follow-up. In parallel, insulin resistance improved to normal or near-normal values during the first 3 months, dropping further until the end of the first year. Despite enhanced glycemic control, beta-cell function declined 1 year after surgery and stabilized afterwards.

Patients with a prolonged history of IFG or T2D eventually develop beta-cell insufficiency characteristic of full-blown disease. However, as shown in the present study, before surgery most patients have very high insulin levels associated with insulin resistance. No pancreatic insufficiency is present and insulin secretion is high, although not high enough to overcome insulin resistance to maintain blood sugar levels in the normal range. In his original Banting lecture, Reaven conceived the term "syndrome X" for a cluster of cardiovascular risk factors linked to insulin resistance (Reaven, 1988). Apparently, low insulin sensitivity or insulin resistance could antecede impairment of glucose tolerance (Martin et al., 1992), as well as cardiovascular diseases or even cancer by many years (Facchini et al., 2001). More recently, the pathophysiology of insulin resistance has been associated with cardiometabolic and cardiovascular disease through mitochondrial dysfunction and formation of reactive oxygen species (Kim et al., 2008). In turn, reactive oxygen species emission and oxidative damage to key signaling mediators from mitochondrial dysfunction and nutrient overload are related to insulin signaling and the development of NAFLD (Besse-Patin and Estall, 2014).

In our obese patients with T2D or IFG, insulin resistance returned to normal or near normal after 3 months, and glycemic control was restored. A pronounced decrease in insulin resistance up to 60 days after SG in patients with T2D was also observed by Rizzello and coworkers (Rizzello et al., 2010), although betacell function and long-term results had not been studied. They hypothesized that restoration of insulin sensitivity was due to early hormonal modifications in the gastro-intestinal tract itself, involving GLP-1, ghrelin and PYY. For GLP-1, a direct effect of endovenous administration on post-prandial glycemia has been

Page | 97

shown. However, this effect could have been due to delayed gastric emptying, increased first-phase insulin secretion and suppression of hepatic glucose output (Juris J Meier et al., 2003). Insulin resistance is associated with triglyceride accumulation in muscle (Perseghin et al., 1999) and liver (Utzschneider and Kahn, 2006). Furthermore, the release of non-esterified fatty acids, glycerol, hormones, and proinflammatory cytokines from adipose tissue adds to reduced insulin sensitivity (Kahn et al., 2006). Regular aerobic exercise and a moderately energy restricted diet in obese individuals ameliorate NAFLD and insulin resistance (Bhat et al., 2012). Mobilization of triglyceride accumulation in muscle and liver during weight loss after surgery might contribute to improvement of insulin resistance. An analogous observation was made in insulin resistant obese patients with T2D submitted to a moderately hypocaloric very-low-fat diet that improved hepatic glucose metabolism with normalization of hepatic insulin resistance and reduction of intrahepatic lipid content assessed by magnetic resonance spectroscopy (Petersen et al., 2005).

Our study showed a significant improvement of insulin resistance after surgically induced weight loss, followed by reduced insulin secretion. Operated patients experienced a decline in beta-cell function that occurred at a later stage of postoperative recovery and is preceded by improvement of glycemic control and insulin resistance. Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia have little influence on beta-cell dysfunction (Mari et al., 2011), and the majority of patients is characterized by a compensatory augmented preoperative beta-cell function (Prentki and Nolan, 2006). However, a small number of patients did actually present with a deteriorated beta-cell function with rather low insulin levels and did not obtain full remission after surgery, suggesting a partially irreversible decrease in beta-cell mass, possibly due to increased apoptosis (Butler et al., 2003) and linked glucolipotoxicity (Prentki et al., 2002), as well as inflammatory mechanisms (Akash et al., 2013). Two of these patients did show a normal insulin resistance and the third patient revealed additionally an increased insulin resistance. All three patients ameliorated glycemic control after surgery associated with a decrease in insulin resistance and an improvement in beta-cell function, but only one of these patients achieved normoglycemia. Similar observations have been made after GB in obese patients with T2D; beta-cell glucose sensitivity did not return to normal, one

year after surgery (Nannipieri et al., 2011). Thus, prognosis of remission of T2D after bariatric surgery is probably linked to preoperative beta-cell function.

Several studies associated favorable outcome regarding diabetes remission after bariatric or metabolic surgery to clinical and laboratorial parameters like higher BMI, lower age, shorter duration of diabetes, lower levels of HbA1c or FPG, and no requirement for insulin (Casella et al., 2011; Hayes et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2011). However, these factors probably reflect rather indirectly the relative significance of insulin resistance and deterioration of beta-cell function for impairment of glucose homeostasis in individual patients. Recent data support the prognostic value of pre-operative C-peptide assessment for predicting successful outcome after surgery (Lee et al., 2013, 2012). Furthermore, even patients with clinical remission of T2D may not have entirely recovered beta-cell function after surgery (Dutia et al., 2014).

Relative improvement of beta-cell function in patients with an impaired preoperative beta-cell function is possibly due to an increased postoperative meal-induced secretion of gastrointestinal hormones like GLP-1 which has shown to exert a stimulating effect on insulin secretion (Jørgensen et al., 2013) and, hypothetically, on beta-cell survival. Further studies in diabetic patients with beta-cell dysfunction could additionally clarify the hypothesis that success of surgery in this subgroup of patients depends on surgical technique. It has already been shown that BPD or BPD-DS are particularly efficient in obese patients with T2D (Buchwald et al., 2009; Marinari et al., 2006), whereas II-SG could apparently improve diabetic control in non-obese patients (De Paula et al., 2010). Stimulation of L-cells in the distal small intestine through early contact with food and subsequent secretion of gastrointestinal hormones like GLP-1 and PYY is probably highest with these surgical techniques and could be responsible for improved glycemic control (Strader et al., 2005). However, the specific effect on beta-cell function in the subgroup of patients with beta-cell insufficiency remains to be further elucidated.

Limitations to our clinical study include sample size and the presence of dropouts. Selection bias regarding surgical technique was avoided since all bariatric patients with T2D or IGF treated by the author during the above-mentioned period were included in the study. Statistical methods were adequate to validate

Page | 99

observed differences in studied parameters. However, the study of patient cohorts from other centers would further consolidate our observations. Benefits from a longer follow-up period include the possibility of identifying specific patient groups whose results hold up over time. Our study favors the prognostic value of preoperative assessment of beta-cell function and insulin resistance through mathematical models, possibly facilitating the stratification of prognosis after surgery. Consequently, it would be interesting to study patients submitted to GB or BPD/BPD-DS to improve our knowledge regarding the role of insulin resistance and beta-cell function in the context of other surgical techniques and eventually permit to tailor the procedure to an individual patient.

CONCLUSION

#### CONCLUSION

Both SG and GB improved overall glycemic control and insulin sensitivity in GK rats, a lean animal model of T2D. Regarding secretion of pancreatic hormones, no significant differences in total meal-induced insulin secretion were observed between Wistar rats and GK rats in all groups. GK rats showed similar glucagon levels in comparison to non-diabetic Wistar rats, without any variation in response to a mixed meal. However, GK rats submitted to SG and GB showed a significant rise in glucagon, 30 minutes after a mixed meal, as well as an increased glucagon-insulin ratio at 60 minutes, albeit a significant amelioration of overall glycemic control. Apparently, an augmented post-procedural glucagon secretion after surgery does not contribute to an impaired glucose tolerance. In face of our results, the role of glucagon on glycemic control after bariatric surgery deserves further investigation.

Sham operated or control group GK rats showed a distinct postprandial gut hormone profile if compared to non-diabetic Wistar rats. Meal-induced gut hormone profiles in GK rats submitted to either SG or GB showed significant post-operative modifications and were similar to Wistar rats. Gastrointestinal surgical procedures modulated both suppressed postprandial ghrelin secretion and flattened meal-induced response of PYY and GLP-1, characteristic for lean diabetic GK rats. Duodenal exclusion alone does not seem to play a significant role in post-surgical amelioration of T2D and restoration of gut hormone profile. Mechanisms other than the direct contact of food with the intestinal mucosa should be taken into account to explain the effect of surgery on postprandial gut hormone secretion.

The results of our clinical study suggest that in most obese patients, T2D is preceded by an enhanced beta-cell function in response to an increased insulin resistance. Later, as disease progresses, augmented beta-cell function cannot compensate for insulin resistance anymore and IFG or overt T2D arise. At this stage, the disease remains reversible by reduction of insulin resistance through bariatric surgical techniques like SG, possibly due to reduction of intracellular lipid load and improvement of mitochondrial dysfunction. Apparently, prognosis concerning diabetes remission is dubious in patients with impaired preoperative beta-cell function, but other surgical approaches, namely BPD-DS or IT, may

yield favorable results in this subgroup of patients that, however, still warrant confirmation.

Taken together, the results of our study demonstrate that important changes in gut hormone profiles occur together with amelioration of glucose homeostasis after bariatric and metabolic surgical procedures, even in the absence of significant obesity, whereas the modulation of pancreatic hormone secretion seems to play a subordinate role. Sleeve gastrectomy, a technique without duodenal exclusion, is effective in a lean animal model and in obese humans with T2D. Preoperative beta-cell function and insulin resistance are likely to represent important prognostic factors for outcome after surgery that should be assessed in all patients with T2D or IFG proposed for metabolic surgery to permit stratification and evaluation of surgical efficacy.

In the context of our data, the mechanisms of modulation of pathophysiological pathways for insulin resistance through gastrointestinal surgery deserve further investigation and shall represent an interesting field for future research.


## REFERENCES

- Abbatini, F., Capoccia, D., Casella, G., Coccia, F., Leonetti, F., Basso, N., 2012. Type 2 diabetes in obese patients with body mass index of 30-35 kg/m2: sleeve gastrectomy versus medical treatment. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 8, 20–4.
- Abbatini, F., Capoccia, D., Casella, G., Soricelli, E., Leonetti, F., Basso, N., 2013. Long-term remission of type 2 diabetes in morbidly obese patients after sleeve gastrectomy. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 9, 498–502.
- Ackerman, N.B., 1981. Observations on the improvements in carbohydrate metabolism in diabetic and other morbidly obese patients after jejunoileal bypass. Surg. Gynecol. Obstet. 152, 581–6.
- Adami, G.F., Cordera, R., Andraghetti, G., Camerini, G.B., Marinari, G.M., Scopinaro, N., 2004. Changes in serum ghrelin concentration following biliopancreatic diversion for obesity. Obes. Res. 12, 684–7.
- Adams, S.O., Gayawan, E., Garba, M.K., 2009. Empirical Comparison of the Kruskal Wallis Statistics and its Parametric Counterpart. J. Mod. Math. Stat. 3, 38–42.
- Adrian, T.E., Ferri, G.L., Bacarese-Hamilton, A.J., Fuessl, H.S., Polak, J.M., Bloom, S.R., 1985. Human distribution and release of a putative new gut hormone, peptide YY. Gastroenterology 89, 1070–7.
- Akash, M.S.H., Rehman, K., Chen, S., 2013. Role of inflammatory mechanisms in pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. J. Cell. Biochem. 114, 525–31.
- Al-Sabah, S., Alasfar, F., Al-Khaledi, G., Dinesh, R., Al-Saleh, M., Abul, H., 2014. Incretin response to a standard test meal in a rat model of sleeve gastrectomy with diet-induced obesity. Obes. Surg. 24, 95–101.
- American Diabetes Association, 2014. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2014. Diabetes Care 37 Suppl 1, S14–80.
- Araujo, A.C.F., Bonfleur, M.L., Balbo, S.L., Ribeiro, R.A., de Freitas, A.C.T., 2012. Duodenal-jejunal bypass surgery enhances glucose tolerance and beta-cell function in Western diet obese rats. Obes. Surg. 22, 819–26.
- Asrih, M., Jornayvaz, F.R., 2013. Inflammation as a potential link between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and insulin resistance. J. Endocrinol. 218, R25–36.

- Ballantyne, G.H., Farkas, D., Laker, S., Wasielewski, A., 2006. Short-term changes in insulin resistance following weight loss surgery for morbid obesity: laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding versus laparoscopic Rouxen-Y gastric bypass. Obes. Surg. 16, 1189–97.
- Bansal, P., Wang, Q., 2008. Insulin as a physiological modulator of glucagon secretion. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 295, E751–61.
- Basso, N., Capoccia, D., Rizzello, M., Abbatini, F., Mariani, P., Maglio, C., Coccia, F., Borgonuovo, G., De Luca, M.L., Asprino, R., Alessandri, G., Casella, G., Leonetti, F., 2011. First-phase insulin secretion, insulin sensitivity, ghrelin, GLP-1, and PYY changes 72 h after sleeve gastrectomy in obese diabetic patients: the gastric hypothesis. Surg. Endosc.
- Bataille, D., Gespach, C., Tatemoto, K., Marie, J.C., Coudray, A.M., Rosselin, G., Mutt, V., 1981. Bioactive enteroglucagon (oxyntomodulin): present knowledge on its chemical structure and its biological activities. Peptides 2 Suppl 2, 41–4.
- Batterham, R.L., Cowley, M.A., Small, C.J., Herzog, H., Cohen, M.A., Dakin, C.L., Wren, A.M., Brynes, A.E., Low, M.J., Ghatei, M.A., Cone, R.D., Bloom, S.R., 2002. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. Nature 418, 650–4.
- Batterham, R.L., ffytche, D.H., Rosenthal, J.M., Zelaya, F.O., Barker, G.J., Withers, D.J., Williams, S.C.R., 2007. PYY modulation of cortical and hypothalamic brain areas predicts feeding behaviour in humans. Nature 450, 106–9.
- Beglinger, S., Drewe, J., Schirra, J., Göke, B., D'Amato, M., Beglinger, C., 2010. Role of fat hydrolysis in regulating glucagon-like Peptide-1 secretion. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 879–86.
- Benaiges, D., Flores Le-Roux, J.A., Pedro-Botet, J., Chillarón, J.J., Renard, M., Parri, A., Ramón, J.M., Pera, M., Goday, A., 2013. Sleeve gastrectomy and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass are equally effective in correcting insulin resistance. Int. J. Surg. 11, 309–13.
- Besse-Patin, A., Estall, J.L., 2014. An Intimate Relationship between ROS and Insulin Signalling: Implications for Antioxidant Treatment of Fatty Liver Disease. Int. J. Cell Biol. 2014, 519153.
- Bhat, G., Baba, C.S., Pandey, A., Kumari, N., Choudhuri, G., 2012. Life style modification improves insulin resistance and liver histology in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. World J. Hepatol. 4, 209–17.

- Bloom, S., Wynne, K., Chaudhri, O., 2005. Gut feeling--the secret of satiety? Clin. Med. 5, 147–52.
- Borg, C.M., le Roux, C.W., Ghatei, M. a, Bloom, S.R., Patel, a G., Aylwin, S.J.B., 2006. Progressive rise in gut hormone levels after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass suggests gut adaptation and explains altered satiety. Br. J. Surg. 93, 210–5.
- Borg, C.M., le Roux, C.W., Ghatei, M. a, Bloom, S.R., Patel, A.G., 2007. Biliopancreatic diversion in rats is associated with intestinal hypertrophy and with increased GLP-1, GLP-2 and PYY levels. Obes. Surg. 17, 1193– 8.
- Böttcher, G., Ahrén, B., Lundquist, I., Sundler, F., 1989. Peptide YY: intrapancreatic localization and effects on insulin and glucagon secretion in the mouse. Pancreas 4, 282–8.
- Boza, C., Muñoz, R., Salinas, J., Gamboa, C., Klaassen, J., Escalona, A., Pérez, G., Ibañez, L., Guzmán, S., 2011a. Safety and efficacy of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass to treat type 2 diabetes mellitus in non-severely obese patients. Obes. Surg. 21, 1330–6.
- Boza, C., Muñoz, R., Yung, E., Milone, L., Gagner, M., 2011b. Sleeve gastrectomy with ileal transposition (SGIT) induces a significant weight loss and diabetes improvement without exclusion of the proximal intestine. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 15, 928–34.
- Broglio, F., Arvat, E., Benso, A., Gottero, C., Muccioli, G., Papotti, M., van der Lely, A.J., Deghenghi, R., Ghigo, E., 2001. Ghrelin, a natural GH secretagogue produced by the stomach, induces hyperglycemia and reduces insulin secretion in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 5083– 6.
- Broglio, F., Gottero, C., Prodam, F., Destefanis, S., Gauna, C., Me, E., Riganti, F., Vivenza, D., Rapa, A., Martina, V., Arvat, E., Bona, G., van der Lely, A.J., Ghigo, E., 2004a. Ghrelin secretion is inhibited by glucose load and insulin-induced hypoglycaemia but unaffected by glucagon and arginine in humans. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf). 61, 503–9.
- Broglio, F., Gottero, C., Van Koetsveld, P., Prodam, F., Destefanis, S., Benso, A., Gauna, C., Hofland, L., Arvat, E., van der Lely, A.J., Ghigo, E., 2004b. Acetylcholine regulates ghrelin secretion in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 2429–33.
- Brown, J.C., Mutt, V., Pederson, R.A., 1970. Further purification of a polypeptide demonstrating enterogastrone activity. J. Physiol. 209, 57–64.

- Buchwald, H., Avidor, Y., Braunwald, E., Jensen, M.D., Pories, W., Fahrbach, K., Schoelles, K., 2004. Bariatric surgery: a systematic review and metaanalysis. JAMA 292, 1724–37.
- Buchwald, H., Estok, R., Fahrbach, K., Banel, D., Jensen, M.D., Pories, W.J., Bantle, J.P., Sledge, I., 2009. Weight and type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am. J. Med. 122, 248– 256.e5.
- Buffa, R., Polak, J.M., Pearse, A.G., Solcia, E., Grimelius, L., Capella, C., 1975. Identification of the intestinal cell storing gastric inhibitory peptide. Histochemistry 43, 249–55.
- Busetto, L., Segato, G., De Luca, M., Foletto, M., Pigozzo, S., Favretti, F., Enzi, G., 2006. High ghrelin concentration is not a predictor of less weight loss in morbidly obese women treated with laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding. Obes. Surg. 16, 1068–74.
- Butler, A.E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R.A., Butler, P.C., 2003. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 52, 102–10.
- Camastra, S., Manco, M., Mari, A., Greco, A. V, Frascerra, S., Mingrone, G., Ferrannini, E., 2007. Beta-cell function in severely obese type 2 diabetic patients: long-term effects of bariatric surgery. Diabetes Care 30, 1002–4.
- Casella, G., Abbatini, F., Calì, B., Capoccia, D., Leonetti, F., Basso, N., 2011. Ten-year duration of type 2 diabetes as prognostic factor for remission after sleeve gastrectomy. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 7, 697–702.
- Chambers, A.P., Jessen, L., Ryan, K.K., Sisley, S., Wilson-Pérez, H.E., Stefater, M.A., Gaitonde, S.G., Sorrell, J.E., Toure, M., Berger, J., D'Alessio, D.A., Woods, S.C., Seeley, R.J., Sandoval, D.A., 2011. Weight-Independent Changes in Blood Glucose Homeostasis after Gastric Bypass or Vertical Sleeve Gastrectomy in Rats. Gastroenterology 141, 950–8.
- Chandarana, K., Gelegen, C., Irvine, E.E., Choudhury, A.I., Amouyal, C., Andreelli, F., Withers, D.J., Batterham, R.L., 2013. Peripheral activation of the Y2-receptor promotes secretion of GLP-1 and improves glucose tolerance. Mol. Metab. 2, 142–52.
- Christou, N. V, Look, D., McLean, A.P., 2005. Pre- and post-prandial plasma ghrelin levels do not correlate with satiety or failure to achieve a successful outcome after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Obes. Surg. 15, 1017–23.

- Chronaiou, A., Tsoli, M., Kehagias, I., Leotsinidis, M., Kalfarentzos, F., Alexandrides, T.K., 2012. Lower ghrelin levels and exaggerated postprandial peptide-YY, glucagon-like peptide-1, and insulin responses, after gastric fundus resection, in patients undergoing Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: a randomized clinical trial. Obes. Surg. 22, 1761–70.
- Clerc, P., Coll Constans, M.G., Lulka, H., Broussaud, S., Guigné, C., Leung-Theung-Long, S., Perrin, C., Knauf, C., Carpéné, C., Pénicaud, L., Seva, C., Burcelin, R., Valet, P., Fourmy, D., Dufresne, M., 2007. Involvement of cholecystokinin 2 receptor in food intake regulation: hyperphagia and increased fat deposition in cholecystokinin 2 receptor-deficient mice. Endocrinology 148, 1039–49.
- Cohen, M.A., Ellis, S.M., Le Roux, C.W., Batterham, R.L., Park, A., Patterson, M., Frost, G.S., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 2003. Oxyntomodulin Suppresses Appetite and Reduces Food Intake in Humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 4696–4701.
- Cohen, R., Caravatto, P.P., Correa, J.L., Noujaim, P., Petry, T.Z., Salles, J.E., Schiavon, C.A., 2012. Glycemic control after stomach-sparing duodenaljejunal bypass surgery in diabetic patients with low body mass index. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 8, 375–80.
- Cohen, R. V, Pinheiro, J.C., Schiavon, C.A., Salles, J.E., Wajchenberg, B.L., Cummings, D.E., 2012. Effects of gastric bypass surgery in patients with type 2 diabetes and only mild obesity. Diabetes Care 35, 1420–8.
- Cooperberg, B.A., Cryer, P.E., 2009. Beta-cell-mediated signaling predominates over direct alpha-cell signaling in the regulation of glucagon secretion in humans. Diabetes Care 32, 2275–80.
- Creutzfeldt, W., 1979. The incretin concept today. Diabetologia 16, 75–85.
- Creutzfeldt, W., Ebert, R., Willms, B., Frerichs, H., Brown, J.C., 1978. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) and insulin in obesity: increased response to stimulation and defective feedback control of serum levels. Diabetologia 14, 15–24.
- Cummings, B.P., Bettaieb, A., Graham, J.L., Stanhope, K.L., Kowala, M., Haj, F.G., Chouinard, M.L., Havel, P.J., 2012. Vertical sleeve gastrectomy improves glucose and lipid metabolism and delays diabetes onset in UCD-T2DM rats. Endocrinology 153, 3620–32.
- Cummings, B.P., Digitale, E.K., Stanhope, K.L., Graham, J.L., Baskin, D.G., Reed, B.J., Sweet, I.R., Griffen, S.C., Havel, P.J., 2008. Development and characterization of a novel rat model of type 2 diabetes mellitus: the UC

Davis type 2 diabetes mellitus UCD-T2DM rat. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R1782–93.

- Cummings, B.P., Strader, A.D., Stanhope, K.L., Graham, J.L., Lee, J., Raybould, H.E., Baskin, D.G., Havel, P.J., 2010. Ileal interposition surgery improves glucose and lipid metabolism and delays diabetes onset in the UCD-T2DM rat. Gastroenterology 138, 2437–46, 2446.e1.
- Cummings, D.E., Weigle, D.S., Frayo, R.S., Breen, P. a, Ma, M.K., Dellinger, E.P., Purnell, J.Q., 2002. Plasma ghrelin levels after diet-induced weight loss or gastric bypass surgery. N. Engl. J. Med. 346, 1623–30.
- Cutolo, P.P., Nosso, G., Vitolo, G., Brancato, V., Capaldo, B., Angrisani, L., 2012. Clinical Efficacy of Laparoscopic Sleeve Gastrectomy vs Laparoscopic Gastric Bypass in Obese Type 2 Diabetic Patients: a Retrospective Comparison. Obes. Surg. 22, 1535–9.
- Dakin, C.L., Gunn, I., Small, C.J., Edwards, C.M., Hay, D.L., Smith, D.M., Ghatei, M. a, Bloom, S.R., 2001. Oxyntomodulin inhibits food intake in the rat. Endocrinology 142, 4244–50.
- Damdindorj, B., Dezaki, K., Kurashina, T., Sone, H., Rita, R., Kakei, M., Yada, T., 2012. Exogenous and endogenous ghrelin counteracts GLP-1 action to stimulate cAMP signaling and insulin secretion in islet β-cells. FEBS Lett. 586, 2555–62.
- Dar, M.S., Chapman, W.H., Pender, J.R., Drake, A.J., O'Brien, K., Tanenberg, R.J., Dohm, G.L., Pories, W.J., 2012. GLP-1 response to a mixed meal: what happens 10 years after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB)? Obes. Surg. 22, 1077–83.
- Date, Y., Kojima, M., Hosoda, H., Sawaguchi, A., Mondal, M.S., Suganuma, T., Matsukura, S., Kangawa, K., Nakazato, M., 2000. Ghrelin, a novel growth hormone-releasing acylated peptide, is synthesized in a distinct endocrine cell type in the gastrointestinal tracts of rats and humans. Endocrinology 141, 4255–61.
- Date, Y., Nakazato, M., Murakami, N., Kojima, M., Kangawa, K., Matsukura, S., 2001. Ghrelin acts in the central nervous system to stimulate gastric acid secretion. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 280, 904–7.
- De Bona Castelan, J., Bettiol, J., d'Acampora, A.J., Castelan, J.V.E., de Souza, J.C., Bressiani, V., Giroldi, S.B., 2007. Sleeve gastrectomy model in Wistar rats. Obes. Surg. 17, 957–61.

- De Gordejuela, A.G.R., Pujol Gebelli, J., García, N.V., Alsina, E.F., Medayo, L.S., Masdevall Noguera, C., 2011. Is sleeve gastrectomy as effective as gastric bypass for remission of type 2 diabetes in morbidly obese patients? Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 7, 506–9.
- De Hollanda, A., Jiménez, A., Corcelles, R., Lacy, A.M., Patrascioiu, I., Vidal, J., 2014. Gastrointestinal hormones and weight loss response after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis.
- De Luis, D., Domingo, M., Romero, A., Gonzalez Sagrado, M., Pacheco, D., Primo, D., Conde, R., 2012. Effects of duodenal-jejunal exclusion on beta cell function and hormonal regulation in Goto-Kakizaki rats. Am. J. Surg. 204, 242–7.
- De Paula, A.L., Stival, A.R., Halpern, A., DePaula, C.C.L., Mari, A., Muscelli, E., Vencio, S., Ferrannini, E., 2011. Improvement in insulin sensitivity and βcell function following ileal interposition with sleeve gastrectomy in type 2 diabetic patients: potential mechanisms. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 15, 1344– 53.
- De Paula, A.L., Stival, A.R., Macedo, A., Ribamar, J., Mancini, M., Halpern, A., Vencio, S., 2010. Prospective randomized controlled trial comparing 2 versions of laparoscopic ileal interposition associated with sleeve gastrectomy for patients with type 2 diabetes with BMI 21–34 kg/m2. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 6, 296–304.
- De Sa, V.C.T., Ferraz, A. a, Campos, J.M., Ramos, A.C., Araujo, J.G.C., Ferraz, E.M., 2011. Gastric bypass in the treatment of type 2 diabetes in patients with a BMI of 30 to 35 kg/m2. Obes. Surg. 21, 283–7.
- De Silva, A., Salem, V., Long, C.J., Makwana, A., Newbould, R.D., Rabiner, E. a, Ghatei, M. a, Bloom, S.R., Matthews, P.M., Beaver, J.D., Dhillo, W.S., 2011. The gut hormones PYY 3-36 and GLP-1 7-36 amide reduce food intake and modulate brain activity in appetite centers in humans. Cell Metab. 14, 700–6.
- DeFronzo, R.A., 1992. Pathogenesis of type 2 (non-insulin dependent) diabetes mellitus: a balanced overview. Diabetologia 35, 389–97.
- DeFronzo, R.A., 2009. Banting Lecture. From the triumvirate to the ominous octet: a new paradigm for the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes 58, 773–95.
- Degen, L., Drewe, J., Piccoli, F., Gräni, K., Oesch, S., Bunea, R., D'Amato, M., Beglinger, C., 2007. Effect of CCK-1 receptor blockade on ghrelin and PYY

secretion in men. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292, R1391–9.

- DePaula, A.L., Macedo, A.L. V, Rassi, N., Machado, C.A., Schraibman, V., Silva, L.Q., Halpern, A., 2008. Laparoscopic treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus for patients with a body mass index less than 35. Surg. Endosc. 22, 706–16.
- DePaula, A.L., Macedo, A.L. V, Schraibman, V., Mota, B.R., Vencio, S., Ludovico, A., Macedo, D.Æ.A.L. V, Vencio, V.S.Æ.B.R.M.Æ.S., 2009. Hormonal evaluation following laparoscopic treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with BMI 20-34. Surg Endosc. 23, 1724–32.
- DePaula, A.L., Stival, A.R., DePaula, C.C.L., Halpern, A., Vencio, S., 2012. Surgical treatment of type 2 diabetes in patients with BMI below 35: midterm outcomes of the laparoscopic ileal interposition associated with a sleeve gastrectomy in 202 consecutive cases. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 16, 967–76.
- Dezaki, K., Sone, H., Yada, T., 2008. Ghrelin is a physiological regulator of insulin release in pancreatic islets and glucose homeostasis. Pharmacol. Ther. 118, 239–49.
- Dimitriadis, E., Daskalakis, M., Kampa, M., Peppe, A., Papadakis, J.A., Melissas, J., 2013. Alterations in gut hormones after laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a prospective clinical and laboratory investigational study. Ann. Surg. 257, 647–54.
- Dixon, J.B., Zimmet, P., Alberti, K.G., Rubino, F., 2011. Bariatric surgery: an IDF statement for obese Type 2 diabetes. Diabet. Med. 28, 628–42.
- Donglei, Z., Liesheng, L., Xun, J., Chenzhu, Z., Weixing, D., 2012. Effects and mechanism of duodenal-jejunal bypass and sleeve gastrectomy on GLUT2 and glucokinase in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. Eur. J. Med. Res. 17, 15.
- Drucker, D.J., 2007. The role of gut hormones in glucose homeostasis. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 24 –32.
- Du, X., Kosinski, J.R., Lao, J., Shen, X., Petrov, A., Chicchi, G.G., Eiermann, G.J., Pocai, A., 2012. Differential effects of oxyntomodulin and GLP-1 on glucose metabolism. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 303, E265–71.
- Dupre, J., 1964. An intestinal hormone affecting glucose disposal in man. Lancet 2, 672–3.

- Dupre, J., Ross, S.A., Watson, D., Brown, J.C., 1973. Stimulation of insulin secretion by gastric inhibitory polypeptide in man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 37, 826–8.
- Dutia, R., Brakoniecki, K., Bunker, P., Paultre, F., Homel, P., Carpentier, A.C., McGinty, J., Laferrère, B., 2014. Limited Recovery of β-Cell Function After Gastric Bypass Despite Clinical Diabetes Remission. Diabetes 63, 1214– 23.
- Ebert, R., Unger, H., Creutzfeldt, W., 1983. Preservation of incretin activity after removal of gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) from rat gut extracts by immunoadsorption. Diabetologia 24, 449–54.
- Edholm, T., Cejvan, K., Abdel-Halim, S.M., Efendic, S., Schmidt, P.T., Hellström, P.M., 2009. The incretin hormones GIP and GLP-1 in diabetic rats: effects on insulin secretion and small bowel motility. Neurogastroenterol. Motil. 21, 313–21.
- Eissele, R., Göke, R., Willemer, S., Harthus, H.P., Vermeer, H., Arnold, R., Göke, B., 1992. Glucagon-like peptide-1 cells in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas of rat, pig and man. Eur. J. Clin. Invest. 22, 283–91.
- Elahi, D., McAloon-Dyke, M., Fukagawa, N.K., Meneilly, G.S., Sclater, A.L., Minaker, K.L., Habener, J.F., Andersen, D.K., 1994. The insulinotropic actions of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-37) in normal and diabetic subjects. Regul. Pept. 51, 63–74.
- Estep, M., Abawi, M., Jarrar, M., Wang, L., Stepanova, M., Elariny, H., Moazez, A., Goodman, Z., Chandhoke, V., Baranova, A., Younossi, Z.M., 2011.
  Association of obestatin, ghrelin, and inflammatory cytokines in obese patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Obes. Surg. 21, 1750–7.
- Evans, S., Pamuklar, Z., Rosko, J., Mahaney, P., Jiang, N., Park, C., Torquati, A., 2012. Gastric bypass surgery restores meal stimulation of the anorexigenic gut hormones glucagon-like peptide-1 and peptide YY independently of caloric restriction. Surg. Endosc. 26, 1086–94.
- Facchini, F.S., Hua, N., Abbasi, F., Reaven, G.M., 2001. Insulin resistance as a predictor of age-related diseases. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 3574–8.
- Falkén, Y., Hellström, P.M., Holst, J.J., Näslund, E., 2011. Changes in glucose homeostasis after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery for obesity at day three, two months, and one year after surgery: role of gut peptides. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 2227–35.

- Faraj, M., Havel, P.J., Phélis, S., Blank, D., Sniderman, A.D., Cianflone, K., 2003. Plasma acylation-stimulating protein, adiponectin, leptin, and ghrelin before and after weight loss induced by gastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese subjects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 1594–602.
- Faria, G., Preto, J., da Costa, E.L., Guimarães, J.T., Calhau, C., Taveira-Gomes, A., 2013. Acute improvement in insulin resistance after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: is 3 days enough to correct insulin metabolism? Obes. Surg. 23, 103–10.
- Ferreira, E., Rocha, M., Mequelino, D., 2012. Monte Carlo evaluation of the ANOVA's F and Kruskal-Wallis tests under binomial distribution. Sigmae 126–139.
- Field, B.C.T., Wren, A.M., Peters, V., Baynes, K.C.R., Martin, N.M., Patterson, M., Alsaraf, S., Amber, V., Wynne, K., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 2010. PYY3-36 and oxyntomodulin can be additive in their effect on food intake in overweight and obese humans. Diabetes 59, 1635–9.
- Frühbeck, G., Diez-Caballero, A., Gil, M.J., Montero, I., Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Salvador, J., Cienfuegos, J. a, 2004a. The decrease in plasma ghrelin concentrations following bariatric surgery depends on the functional integrity of the fundus. Obes. Surg. 14, 606–12.
- Frühbeck, G., Rotellar, F., Hernández-Lizoain, J.L., Gil, M.J., Gómez-Ambrosi, J., Salvador, J., Cienfuegos, J. a, 2004b. Fasting plasma ghrelin concentrations 6 months after gastric bypass are not determined by weight loss or changes in insulinemia. Obes. Surg. 14, 1208–15.
- Gaitonde, S., Kohli, R., Seeley, R., 2012. The role of the gut hormone GLP-1 in the metabolic improvements caused by ileal transposition. J. Surg. Res. 178, 33–9.
- Gastaldelli, A., Baldi, S., Pettiti, M., Toschi, E., Camastra, S., Natali, A., Landau, B.R., Ferrannini, E., 2000. Influence of obesity and type 2 diabetes on gluconeogenesis and glucose output in humans: a quantitative study. Diabetes 49, 1367–73.
- Gastrointestinal surgery for severe obesity: National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Statement., 1992. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 55, 615S–619S.
- Geloneze, B., Tambascia, M.A., Pilla, V.F., Geloneze, S.R., Repetto, E.M., Pareja, J.C., 2003. Ghrelin: a gut-brain hormone: effect of gastric bypass surgery. Obes. Surg. 13, 17–22.

- Gibbons, C., Caudwell, P., Finlayson, G., Webb, D.-L., Hellström, P.M., Näslund, E., Blundell, J.E., 2013. Comparison of postprandial profiles of ghrelin, active GLP-1, and total PYY to meals varying in fat and carbohydrate and their association with hunger and the phases of satiety. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, E847–55.
- Gomes, A.C., Bueno, A.A., de Souza, R.G.M., Mota, J.F., 2014. Gut microbiota, probiotics and diabetes. Nutr. J. 13, 60.
- Goto, Y., Kakizaki, M., Masaki, N., 1976. Production of spontaneous diabetic rats by repetition of selective breeding. Tohoku J. Exp. Med. 119, 85–90.
- Guidone, C., Manco, M., Valera-Mora, E., Iaconelli, A., Gniuli, D., Mari, A., Nanni, G., Castagneto, M., Calvani, M., Mingrone, G., 2006. Mechanisms of recovery from type 2 diabetes after malabsorptive bariatric surgery. Diabetes 55, 2025–31.
- Gumbs, A. a, Modlin, I.M., Ballantyne, G.H., 2005. Changes in insulin resistance following bariatric surgery: role of caloric restriction and weight loss. Obes. Surg. 15, 462–73.
- Guo, Y.S., Singh, P., Draviam, E., Greeley, G.H., Thompson, J.C., 1989. Peptide YY inhibits the insulinotropic action of gastric inhibitory polypeptide. Gastroenterology 96, 690–4.
- Guo, Z., 2007. Intramyocellular lipid kinetics and insulin resistance. Lipids Health Dis. 6, 18.
- Gutniak, M., Grill, V., Efendić, S., 1986. Effect of composition of mixed meals-low- versus high-carbohydrate content--on insulin, glucagon, and somatostatin release in healthy humans and in patients with NIDDM. Diabetes Care 9, 244–9.
- Gutzwiller, J.P., Drewe, J., Göke, B., Schmidt, H., Rohrer, B., Lareida, J., Beglinger, C., 1999a. Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes satiety and reduces food intake in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2. Am. J. Physiol. 276, R1541–4.
- Gutzwiller, J.P., Göke, B., Drewe, J., Hildebrand, P., Ketterer, S., Handschin,
  D., Winterhalder, R., Conen, D., Beglinger, C., 1999b. Glucagon-like peptide-1: a potent regulator of food intake in humans. Gut 44, 81–6.
- Hagemann, D., Holst, J.J., Gethmann, A., Banasch, M., Schmidt, W.E., Meier, J.J., 2007. Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) suppresses ghrelin levels in humans via increased insulin secretion. Regul. Pept. 143, 64–8.

- Halverson, J.D., Kramer, J., Cave, A., Permutt, A., Santiago, J., 1982. Altered glucose tolerance, insulin response, and insulin sensitivity after massive weight reduction subsequent to gastric bypass. Surgery 92, 235–40.
- Hauge-Evans, A.C., King, A.J., Fairhall, K., Persaud, S.J., Jones, P.M., 2010. A role for islet somatostatin in mediating sympathetic regulation of glucagon secretion. Islets 2, 341–4.
- Hayes, M.T., Hunt, L.A., Foo, J., Tychinskaya, Y., Stubbs, R.S., 2011. A model for predicting the resolution of type 2 diabetes in severely obese subjects following Roux-en Y gastric bypass surgery. Obes. Surg. 21, 910–6.
- Hedberg, J., Hedenström, H., Karlsson, F.A., Edén-Engström, B., Sundbom, M.,
   2011. Gastric emptying and postprandial PYY response after biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch. Obes. Surg. 21, 609–15.
- Hira, T., Mochida, T., Miyashita, K., Hara, H., 2009. GLP-1 secretion is enhanced directly in the ileum but indirectly in the duodenum by a newly identified potent stimulator, zein hydrolysate, in rats. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 297, G663–71.
- Holdstock, C., Engström, B.E., Ohrvall, M., Lind, L., Sundbom, M., Karlsson, F.A., 2003. Ghrelin and adipose tissue regulatory peptides: effect of gastric bypass surgery in obese humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 3177–83.
- Holst, J.J., Gromada, J., Nauck, M.A., 1997. The pathogenesis of NIDDM involves a defective expression of the GIP receptor. Diabetologia 40, 984–6.
- Holst, J.J., Vilsbøll, T., Deacon, C.F., 2009. The incretin system and its role in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 297, 127–36.
- Howard, A.D., Feighner, S.D., Cully, D.F., Arena, J.P., Liberator, P.A., Rosenblum, C.I., Hamelin, M., Hreniuk, D.L., Palyha, O.C., Anderson, J., Paress, P.S., Diaz, C., Chou, M., Liu, K.K., McKee, K.K., Pong, S.S., Chaung, L.Y., Elbrecht, A., Dashkevicz, M., Heavens, R., Rigby, M., Sirinathsinghji, D.J., Dean, D.C., Melillo, D.G., Patchett, A.A., Nargund, R., Griffin, P.R., DeMartino, J.A., Gupta, S.K., Schaeffer, J.M., Smith, R.G., Van der Ploeg, L.H., 1996. A receptor in pituitary and hypothalamus that functions in growth hormone release. Science 273, 974–7.
- Huang, C.-K., Shabbir, A., Lo, C.-H., Tai, C.-M., Chen, Y.-S., Houng, J.-Y., 2011. Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass for the treatment of type II diabetes mellitus in Chinese patients with body mass index of 25-35. Obes. Surg. 21, 1344–9.

Immonen, H., Hannukainen, J.C., Iozzo, P., Soinio, M., Salminen, P., Saunavaara, V., Borra, R., Parkkola, R., Mari, A., Lehtimäki, T., Pham, T., Laine, J., Kärjä, V., Pihlajamäki, J., Nelimarkka, L., Nuutila, P., 2014. Effect of bariatric surgery on liver glucose metabolism in morbidly obese diabetic and non-diabetic patients. J. Hepatol. 60, 377–83.

International Diabetes Federation, 2013. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 6th edition.

- Isbell, J.M., Tamboli, R.A., Hansen, E.N., Saliba, J., Dunn, J.P., Phillips, S.E., Marks-Shulman, P.A., Abumrad, N.N., 2010. The importance of caloric restriction in the early improvements in insulin sensitivity after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Diabetes Care 33, 1438–42.
- Jiang, G., Zhang, B.B., 2003. Glucagon and regulation of glucose metabolism. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 284, E671–8.
- Jiménez, A., Casamitjana, R., Flores, L., Viaplana, J., Corcelles, R., Lacy, A., Vidal, J., 2012. Long-term effects of sleeve gastrectomy and Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery on type 2 diabetes mellitus in morbidly obese subjects. Ann. Surg. 256, 1023–9.
- Johannessen, H., Kodama, Y., Zhao, C.-M., Sousa, M.M.L., Slupphaug, G., Kulseng, B., Chen, D., 2013. Eating behavior and glucagon-like Peptide-1producing cells in interposed ileum and pancreatic islets in rats subjected to ileal interposition associated with sleeve gastrectomy. Obes. Surg. 23, 39– 49.
- Jørgensen, N.B., Dirksen, C., Bojsen-Møller, K.N., Jacobsen, S.H., Worm, D., Hansen, D.L., Kristiansen, V.B., Naver, L., Madsbad, S., Holst, J.J., 2013. Exaggerated glucagon-like peptide 1 response is important for improved βcell function and glucose tolerance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 62, 3044–52.
- Kadera, B.E., Portenier, D.D., Yurcisin, B.M., Demaria, E.J., Gaddor, M.M., Jain-Spangler, K., 2013. Evidence for a metabolic mechanism in the improvement of type 2 diabetes after sleeve gastrectomy in a rodent model. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 9, 447–52.
- Kahn, S.E., Hull, R.L., Utzschneider, K.M., 2006. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 444, 840–6.
- Karamanakos, S.N., Vagenas, K., Kalfarentzos, F., Alexandrides, T.K., 2008. Weight loss, appetite suppression, and changes in fasting and postprandial ghrelin and peptide-YY levels after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: a prospective, double blind study. Ann. Surg. 247, 401–7.

- Kashyap, S.R., Bhatt, D.L., Wolski, K., Watanabe, R.M., Abdul-Ghani, M., Abood, B., Pothier, C.E., Brethauer, S., Nissen, S., Gupta, M., Kirwan, J.P., Schauer, P.R., 2013. Metabolic effects of bariatric surgery in patients with moderate obesity and type 2 diabetes: analysis of a randomized control trial comparing surgery with intensive medical treatment. Diabetes Care 36, 2175–82.
- Katz, A., Nambi, S.S., Mather, K., Baron, A.D., Follmann, D.A., Sullivan, G., Quon, M.J., 2000. Quantitative insulin sensitivity check index: a simple, accurate method for assessing insulin sensitivity in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 2402–10.
- Keidar, A., Hershkop, K.J., Marko, L., Schweiger, C., Hecht, L., Bartov, N., Kedar, A., Weiss, R., 2013. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass vs sleeve gastrectomy for obese patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomised trial. Diabetologia 56, 1914–8.
- Kim, J.-A., Wei, Y., Sowers, J.R., 2008. Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance. Circ. Res. 102, 401–14.
- Kindel, T.L., Martins, P.J.F., Yoder, S.M., Jandacek, R.J., Seeley, R.J., D'Alessio, D. a, Obici, S., Tso, P., 2010. Bypassing the Duodenum Does Not Improve Insulin Resistance Associated With Diet-Induced Obesity in Rodents. Obesity (Silver Spring). 19.
- Kindel, T.L., Yoder, S.M., Seeley, R.J., D'Alessio, D. a, Tso, P., 2009. Duodenal-jejunal exclusion improves glucose tolerance in the diabetic, Goto-Kakizaki rat by a GLP-1 receptor-mediated mechanism. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 13, 1762–72.
- Klein, S., Fabbrini, E., Patterson, B.W., Polonsky, K.S., Schiavon, C.A., Correa, J.L., Salles, J.E., Wajchenberg, B.L., Cohen, R., 2012. Moderate effect of duodenal-jejunal bypass surgery on glucose homeostasis in patients with type 2 diabetes. Obesity (Silver Spring). 20, 1266–72.
- Knop, F.K., Aaboe, K., Vilsbøll, T., Vølund, A., Holst, J.J., Krarup, T., Madsbad, S., 2012. Impaired incretin effect and fasting hyperglucagonaemia characterizing type 2 diabetic subjects are early signs of dysmetabolism in obesity. Diabetes. Obes. Metab. 14, 500–10.
- Kojima, M., Hosoda, H., Date, Y., Nakazato, M., Matsuo, H., Kangawa, K., 1999. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature 402, 656–60.
- Kopin, A.S., Mathes, W.F., McBride, E.W., Nguyen, M., Al-Haider, W., Schmitz, F., Bonner-Weir, S., Kanarek, R., Beinborn, M., 1999. The cholecystokinin-

A receptor mediates inhibition of food intake yet is not essential for the maintenance of body weight. J. Clin. Invest. 103, 383–91.

- Korner, J., Bessler, M., Cirilo, L.J., Conwell, I.M., Daud, A., Restuccia, N.L., Wardlaw, S.L., 2005. Effects of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery on fasting and postprandial concentrations of plasma ghrelin, peptide YY, and insulin. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 359–65.
- Korner, J., Inabnet, W., Conwell, I.M., Taveras, C., Daud, A., Olivero-Rivera, L., Restuccia, N.L., Bessler, M., 2006. Differential effects of gastric bypass and banding on circulating gut hormone and leptin levels. Obesity (Silver Spring). 14, 1553–61.
- Kosinski, J.R., Hubert, J., Carrington, P.E., Chicchi, G.G., Mu, J., Miller, C., Cao, J., Bianchi, E., Pessi, A., Sinharoy, R., Marsh, D.J., Pocai, A., 2012. The glucagon receptor is involved in mediating the body weight-lowering effects of oxyntomodulin. Obesity (Silver Spring). 20, 1566–71.
- Kota, S.K., Ugale, S., Gupta, N., Krishna, S.V.S., Modi, K.D., 2012a. Ileal Interposition with Diverted sleeve gastrectomy for treatment of Type 2 diabetes. Indian J. Endocrinol. Metab. 16, S458–9.
- Kota, S.K., Ugale, S., Gupta, N., Naik, V., Kumar, K.V.S.H., Modi, K.D., 2012b. Ileal interposition with sleeve gastrectomy for treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Indian J. Endocrinol. Metab. 16, 589–98.
- Kotidis, E. V, Koliakos, G.G., Baltzopoulos, V.G., Ioannidis, K.N., Yovos, J.G., Papavramidis, S.T., 2006. Serum ghrelin, leptin and adiponectin levels before and after weight loss: comparison of three methods of treatment--a prospective study. Obes. Surg. 16, 1425–32.
- Kreymann, B., Williams, G., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 1987. Glucagon-like peptide-1 7-36: a physiological incretin in man. Lancet 2, 1300–4.
- Kruskal, W.H., Wallis, W.A., 1952. Use of Ranks in One-Criterion Variance Analysis. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 47, 583–621.
- Laferrère, B., Heshka, S., Wang, K., Khan, Y., McGinty, J., Teixeira, J., Hart, A.B.A.B., Olivan, B., 2007. Incretin levels and effect are markedly enhanced 1 month after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 30, 1709 – 1716.
- Laferrère, B., Teixeira, J., McGinty, J., Tran, H., Egger, J.R., Colarusso, A., Kovack, B., Bawa, B., Koshy, N., Lee, H., Yapp, K., Olivan, B., 2008. Effect of weight loss by gastric bypass surgery versus hypocaloric diet on glucose

and incretin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 2479–85.

- Lakdawala, M., Shaikh, S., Bandukwala, S., Remedios, C., Shah, M., Bhasker, A.G., 2013. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass stands the test of time: 5-year results in low body mass index (30-35 kg/m(2)) Indian patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 9, 370–8.
- Langer, F.B., Reza Hoda, M. a, Bohdjalian, a, Felberbauer, F.X., Zacherl, J., Wenzl, E., Schindler, K., Luger, a, Ludvik, B., Prager, G., 2005. Sleeve gastrectomy and gastric banding: effects on plasma ghrelin levels. Obes. Surg. 15, 1024–9.
- Lanzarini, E., Csendes, A., Gutierrez, L., Cuevas, P., Lembach, H., Molina, J.C., Musleh, M., Braghetto, I., Papapietro, K., Araya, V., Lahsen, R., Olguin, P., Riffo, A., Diaz, E., Montt, D., Marín, L., 2013. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in patients with mild obesity: preliminary results of surgical treatment. Obes. Surg. 23, 234–40.
- Le Roux, C.W., Aylwin, S.J.B., Batterham, R.L., Borg, C.M., Coyle, F., Prasad, V., Shurey, S., Ghatei, M. a., Patel, A.G., Bloom, S.R., 2006. Gut Hormone Profiles Following Bariatric Surgery Favor an Anorectic State, Facilitate Weight Loss, and Improve Metabolic Parameters. Ann. Surg. 243, 108– 114.
- Lee, W.-J., Chen, C.-Y., Chong, K., Lee, Y.-C., Chen, S.-C., Lee, S.-D., 2011a. Changes in postprandial gut hormones after metabolic surgery: a comparison of gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 7, 683–90.
- Lee, W.-J., Chong, K., Chen, C.-Y., Chen, S.-C., Lee, Y.-C., Ser, K.-H., Chuang, L.-M., 2011b. Diabetes Remission and Insulin Secretion After Gastric Bypass in Patients with Body Mass Index <35 kg/m(2). Obes. Surg. 21, 889–95.
- Lee, W.-J., Chong, K., Ser, K.-H., Chen, J.-C., Lee, Y.-C., Chen, S.-C., Su, Y.-H., Tsai, M.-H., 2012. C-peptide predicts the remission of type 2 diabetes after bariatric surgery. Obes. Surg. 22, 293–8.
- Lee, W.-J., Hur, K.Y., Lakadawala, M., Kasama, K., Wong, S.K.H., Chen, S.-C., Lee, Y.-C., Ser, K.-H., 2013. Predicting success of metabolic surgery: age, body mass index, C-peptide, and duration score. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 9, 379–84.
- Leonetti, F., Iacobellis, G., Ribaudo, M.C., Zappaterreno, A., Tiberti, C., Iannucci, C.V., Vecci, E., Di Mario, U., 2004. Acute insulin infusion

decreases plasma ghrelin levels in uncomplicated obesity. Regul. Pept. 122, 179–83.

- Leslie, D.B., Dorman, R.B., Serrot, F.J., Swan, T.W., Kellogg, T. a, Torres-Villalobos, G., Buchwald, H., Slusarek, B.M., Sampson, B.K., Bantle, J.P., Ikramuddin, S., 2012. Efficacy of the Roux-en-Y gastric bypass compared to medically managed controls in meeting the American Diabetes Association composite end point goals for management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Obes. Surg. 22, 367–74.
- Levy, J.C., Matthews, D.R., Hermans, M.P., 1998. Correct homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) evaluation uses the computer program. Diabetes Care 21, 2191–2.
- Li, F., Zhang, G., Liang, J., Ding, X., Cheng, Z., Hu, S., 2009. Sleeve gastrectomy provides a better control of diabetes by decreasing ghrelin in the diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 13, 2302–8.
- Li, J.-F., Lai, D.-D., Ni, B., Sun, K.-X., 2013. Comparison of laparoscopic Rouxen-Y gastric bypass with laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy for morbid obesity or type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Can. J. Surg. 56, E158–64.
- Lifante, J.C., Milone, L., Korner, J., Kopsombut, G., Sebastian, M., Inabnet, W.B., 2012. Sleeve gastrectomy improves glucose homeostasis in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Obes. Surg. 22, 1110–6.
- Liou, J.-M., Lin, J.-T., Lee, W.-J., Wang, H.-P., Lee, Y.-C., Chiu, H.-M., Wu, M.-S., 2008. The serial changes of ghrelin and leptin levels and their relations to weight loss after laparoscopic minigastric bypass surgery. Obes. Surg. 18, 84–9.
- Liu, Y., Zhou, Y., Wang, Y., Geng, D., Liu, J., 2011. Roux-en-Y gastric bypassinduced improvement of glucose tolerance and insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic rats are mediated by glucagon-like peptide-1. Obes. Surg. 21, 1424–31.
- Lopez, P.P., Nicholson, S.E., Burkhardt, G.E., Johnson, R.A., Johnson, F.K., 2009. Development of a sleeve gastrectomy weight loss model in obese Zucker rats. J. Surg. Res. 157, 243–50.
- Lundberg, J.M., Tatemoto, K., Terenius, L., Hellström, P.M., Mutt, V., Hökfelt, T., Hamberger, B., 1982. Localization of peptide YY (PYY) in gastrointestinal endocrine cells and effects on intestinal blood flow and motility. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 79, 4471–5.

- Mari, A., Manco, M., Guidone, C., Nanni, G., Castagneto, M., Mingrone, G., Ferrannini, E., 2006. Restoration of normal glucose tolerance in severely obese patients after bilio-pancreatic diversion: role of insulin sensitivity and beta cell function. Diabetologia 49, 2136–43.
- Mari, A., Tura, A., Natali, A., Anderwald, C., Balkau, B., Lalic, N., Walker, M., Ferrannini, E., 2011. Influence of hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance on in vivo β-cell function: their role in human β-cell dysfunction. Diabetes 60, 3141–7.
- Marinari, G.M., Papadia, F.S., Briatore, L., Adami, G., Scopinaro, N., 2006. Type 2 diabetes and weight loss following biliopancreatic diversion for obesity. Obes. Surg. 16, 1440–4.
- Martin, B.C., Warram, J.H., Krolewski, A.S., Bergman, R.N., Soeldner, J.S., Kahn, C.R., 1992. Role of glucose and insulin resistance in development of type 2 diabetes mellitus: results of a 25-year follow-up study. Lancet 340, 925–9.
- Matthews, D.R., Hosker, J.R., Rudenski, A.S., Naylor, B.A., Treacher, D.F., Turner, R.C., 1985. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 28, 412–419.
- McIntyre, N., Holdsworth, C.D., Turner, D.S., 1964. New interpretation of oral glucose tolerance. Lancet 2, 20–1.
- McLaughlin, T., Abbasi, F., Lamendola, C., Frayo, R.S., Cummings, D.E., 2004. Plasma Ghrelin Concentrations Are Decreased in Insulin-Resistant Obese Adults Relative to Equally Obese Insulin-Sensitive Controls. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89, 1630–1635.
- Meguid, M.M., Ramos, E.J.B., Suzuki, S., Xu, Y., George, Z.M., Das, U.N., Hughes, K., Quinn, R., Chen, C., Marx, W., Cunningham, P.R.G., 2004. A surgical rat model of human Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 8, 621–30.
- Meier, J.J., Gallwitz, B., Kask, B., Deacon, C.F., Holst, J.J., Schmidt, W.E., Nauck, M.A., 2004. Stimulation of insulin secretion by intravenous bolus injection and continuous infusion of gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type 2 diabetes and healthy control subjects. Diabetes 53 Suppl 3, S220–4.
- Meier, J.J., Gallwitz, B., Salmen, S., Goetze, O., Holst, J.J., Schmidt, W.E., Nauck, M.A., 2003. Normalization of glucose concentrations and deceleration of gastric emptying after solid meals during intravenous

glucagon-like peptide 1 in patients with type 2 diabetes. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 2719–25.

- Meier, J.J., Gallwitz, B., Siepmann, N., Holst, J.J., Deacon, C.F., Schmidt, W.E., Nauck, M. a., 2003. Gastric inhibitory polypeptide (GIP) dose-dependently stimulates glucagon secretion in healthy human subjects at euglycaemia. Diabetologia 46, 798–801.
- Meier, J.J., Gethmann, a, Götze, O., Gallwitz, B., Holst, J.J., Schmidt, W.E., Nauck, M. a, 2006. Glucagon-like peptide 1 abolishes the postprandial rise in triglyceride concentrations and lowers levels of non-esterified fatty acids in humans. Diabetologia 49, 452–8.
- Meirelles, K., Ahmed, T., Culnan, D.M., Lynch, C.J., Lang, C.H., Cooney, R.N., 2009. Mechanisms of glucose homeostasis after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery in the obese, insulin-resistant Zucker rat. Ann. Surg. 249, 277–85.
- Mingrone, G., Panunzi, S., De Gaetano, A., Guidone, C., Iaconelli, A., Leccesi, L., Nanni, G., Pomp, A., Castagneto, M., Ghirlanda, G., Rubino, F., 2012.
  Bariatric surgery versus conventional medical therapy for type 2 diabetes.
  N. Engl. J. Med. 366, 1577–85.
- Mojsov, S., Weir, G.C., Habener, J.F., 1987. Insulinotropin: glucagon-like peptide I (7-37) co-encoded in the glucagon gene is a potent stimulator of insulin release in the perfused rat pancreas. J. Clin. Invest. 79, 616–9.
- Morínigo, R., Lacy, A.M., Casamitjana, R., Delgado, S., Gomis, R., Vidal, J., 2006a. GLP-1 and changes in glucose tolerance following gastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese subjects. Obes. Surg. 16, 1594–601.
- Morínigo, R., Moizé, V., Musri, M., Lacy, A.M., Navarro, S., Marín, J.L., Delgado, S., Casamitjana, R., Vidal, J., 2006b. Glucagon-like peptide-1, peptide YY, hunger, and satiety after gastric bypass surgery in morbidly obese subjects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 1735–40.
- Muniyappa, R., Chen, H., Muzumdar, R., Einstein, F.H., Yan, X., Yue, L.Q., Barzilai, N., Quon, M.J., 2009. Comparison between Surrogate Indexes of Insulin Sensitivity/Resistance and Hyperinsulinemic Euglycemic Clamp Estimates in Rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.
- Nadreau, E., Baraboi, E.-D., Samson, P., Blouin, A., Hould, F.-S., Marceau, P., Biron, S., Richard, D., 2006. Effects of the biliopancreatic diversion on energy balance in the rat. Int. J. Obes. 30, 419–29.
- Nannipieri, M., Baldi, S., Mari, a, Colligiani, D., Guarino, D., Camastra, S., Barsotti, E., Berta, R., Moriconi, D., Bellini, R., Anselmino, M., Ferrannini,

E., 2013. Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass and Sleeve Gastrectomy: Mechanisms of Diabetes Remission and Role of Gut Hormones. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 1–10.

- Nannipieri, M., Mari, A., Anselmino, M., Baldi, S., Barsotti, E., Guarino, D., Camastra, S., Bellini, R., Berta, R.D., Ferrannini, E., 2011. The role of betacell function and insulin sensitivity in the remission of type 2 diabetes after gastric bypass surgery. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, E1372–9.
- Näslund, E., Backman, L., Holst, J.J., Theodorsson, E., Hellström, P.M., 1998. Importance of small bowel peptides for the improved glucose metabolism 20 years after jejunoileal bypass for obesity. Obes. Surg. 8, 253–60.
- Nauck, M.A., Niedereichholz, U., Ettler, R., Holst, J.J., Orskov, C., Ritzel, R., Schmiegel, W.H., 1997. Glucagon-like peptide 1 inhibition of gastric emptying outweighs its insulinotropic effects in healthy humans. Am. J. Physiol. 273, E981–8.
- Nieuwenhuizen, A.G., Karlsson, S., Fridolf, T., Ahrén, B., 1994. Mechanisms underlying the insulinostatic effect of peptide YY in mouse pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 37, 871–8.
- Nijhuis, J., van Dielen, F.M.H., Buurman, W. a, Greve, J.W.M., 2004. Ghrelin, leptin and insulin levels after restrictive surgery: a 2-year follow-up study. Obes. Surg. 14, 783–7.
- Nocca, D., Guillaume, F., Noel, P., Picot, M.C., Aggarwal, R., El Kamel, M., Schaub, R., de Seguin de Hons, C., Renard, E., Fabre, J.M., 2011. Impact of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and laparoscopic gastric bypass on HbA1c blood level and pharmacological treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in severe or morbidly obese patients. Results of a multicenter prospective study at 1 year. Obes. Surg. 21, 738–43.
- O'Halloran, D.J., Nikou, G.C., Kreymann, B., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 1990. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (7-36)-NH2: a physiological inhibitor of gastric acid secretion in man. J. Endocrinol. 126, 169–73.
- Orskov, C., 1992. Glucagon-like peptide-1, a new hormone of the entero-insular axis. Diabetologia 35, 701–11.
- Pacheco, D., de Luis, D.A., Romero, A., González Sagrado, M., Conde, R., Izaola, O., Aller, R., Delgado, A., 2007. The effects of duodenal-jejunal exclusion on hormonal regulation of glucose metabolism in Goto-Kakizaki rats. Am. J. Surg. 194, 221–4.

- Palikhe, G., Gupta, R., Behera, B.N., Sachdeva, N., Gangadhar, P., Bhansali, A., 2014. Efficacy of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy and intensive medical management in obese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Obes. Surg. 24, 529–35.
- Patel, R.T., Shukla, A.P., Ahn, S.M., Moreira, M., Rubino, F., 2013. Surgical control of obesity and diabetes: The role of intestinal vs. gastric mechanisms in the regulation of body weight and glucose homeostasis. Obesity (Silver Spring). 000, 1–11.
- Patriti, A., Aisa, M.C., Annetti, C., Sidoni, A., Galli, F., Ferri, I., Gullà, N., Donini, A., 2007. How the hindgut can cure type 2 diabetes. Ileal transposition improves glucose metabolism and beta-cell function in Goto-kakizaki rats through an enhanced Proglucagon gene expression and L-cell number. Surgery 142, 74–85.
- Patriti, A., Facchiano, E., Annetti, C., Aisa, M.C., Galli, F., Fanelli, C., Donini, A., 2005. Early improvement of glucose tolerance after ileal transposition in a non-obese type 2 diabetes rat model. Obes. Surg. 15, 1258–64.
- Peng, Z., Xiaolei, Z., Al-Sanaban, H., Chengrui, X., Shengyi, Y., 2012. Ghrelin inhibits insulin release by regulating the expression of inwardly rectifying potassium channel 6.2 in islets. Am. J. Med. Sci. 343, 215–9.
- Perseghin, G., Scifo, P., De Cobelli, F., Pagliato, E., Battezzati, A., Arcelloni, C., Vanzulli, A., Testolin, G., Pozza, G., Del Maschio, A., Luzi, L., 1999.
   Intramyocellular triglyceride content is a determinant of in vivo insulin resistance in humans: a 1H-13C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy assessment in offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. Diabetes 48, 1600–6.
- Peterli, R., Steinert, R.E., Woelnerhanssen, B., Peters, T., Christoffel-Courtin, C., Gass, M., Kern, B., von Fluee, M., Beglinger, C., 2012. Metabolic and hormonal changes after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy: a randomized, prospective trial. Obes. Surg. 22, 740–8.
- Peterli, R., Wölnerhanssen, B., Peters, T., Devaux, N., Kern, B., Christoffel-Courtin, C., Drewe, J., von Flüe, M., Beglinger, C., 2009. Improvement in glucose metabolism after bariatric surgery: comparison of laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a prospective randomized trial. Ann. Surg. 250, 234–41.
- Petersen, K.F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Lehrke, M., Hendler, R.E., Shulman, G.I., 2005. Reversal of nonalcoholic hepatic steatosis, hepatic insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia by moderate weight reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 54, 603–8.

- Plourde, C.-É., Grenier-Larouche, T., Caron-Dorval, D., Biron, S., Marceau, S., Lebel, S., Biertho, L., Tchernof, A., Richard, D., Carpentier, A.C., 2014. Biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch improves insulin sensitivity and secretion through caloric restriction. Obesity (Silver Spring).
- Pocai, A., 2014. Action and therapeutic potential of oxyntomodulin. Mol. Metab. 3, 241–251.
- Polak, J.M., Bloom, S.R., Kuzio, M., Brown, J.C., Pearse, a G., 1973. Cellular localization of gastric inhibitory polypeptide in the duodenum and jejunum. Gut 14, 284–8.
- Pontiroli, A.E., Pizzocri, P., Librenti, M.C., Vedani, P., Marchi, M., Cucchi, E., Orena, C., Paganelli, M., Giacomelli, M., Ferla, G., Folli, F., 2002. Laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding for the treatment of morbid (grade 3) obesity and its metabolic complications: a three-year study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 3555–61.
- Pories, W.J., Albrecht, R.J., 2001. Etiology of type II diabetes mellitus: role of the foregut. World J. Surg. 25, 527–31.
- Pories, W.J., Caro, J.F., Flickinger, E.G., Meelheim, H.D., Swanson, M.S., 1987. The control of diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) in the morbidly obese with the Greenville Gastric Bypass. Ann. Surg. 206, 316–23.
- Pories, W.J., Dohm, L.G., Mansfield, C.J., 2010. Beyond the BMI: the search for better guidelines for bariatric surgery. Obesity (Silver Spring). 18, 865–71.
- Pories, W.J., MacDonald, K., Morgan, E.J., Sinha, M.K., Dohm, G.L., Swanson, M.S., Barakat, H.A., Khazanie, P.G., Leggett-Frazier, N., Long, S.D., O'Brien, K., Caro, J.F., 1992. Surgical treatment of obesity and its effect on diabetes: 10-y follow-up. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 55, 582S 585S.
- Pories, W.J., Swanson, M.S., MacDonald, K.G., Long, S.B., Morris, P.G., Brown, B.M., Barakat, H. a, deRamon, R. a, Israel, G., Dolezal, J.M., 1995.
  Who would have thought it? An operation proves to be the most effective therapy for adult-onset diabetes mellitus. Ann. Surg. 222, 339–50; discussion 350–2.
- Portha, B., Lacraz, G., Kergoat, M., Homo-Delarche, F., Giroix, M.-H., Bailbé, D., Gangnerau, M.-N., Dolz, M., Tourrel-Cuzin, C., Movassat, J., 2009. The GK rat beta-cell: a prototype for the diseased human beta-cell in type 2 diabetes? Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 297, 73–85.

- Prentki, M., Joly, E., El-Assaad, W., Roduit, R., 2002. Malonyl-CoA signaling, lipid partitioning, and glucolipotoxicity: role in beta-cell adaptation and failure in the etiology of diabetes. Diabetes 51 Suppl 3, S405–13.
- Prentki, M., Nolan, C.J., 2006. Islet beta cell failure in type 2 diabetes. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1802–12.
- Quesada, I., Tudurí, E., Ripoll, C., Nadal, A., 2008. Physiology of the pancreatic alpha-cell and glucagon secretion: role in glucose homeostasis and diabetes. J. Endocrinol. 199, 5–19.
- Ramos, A.P.P., de Abreu, M.R.A., Vendramini, R.C., Brunetti, I.L., Pepato, M.T., 2006. Decrease in circulating glucose, insulin and leptin levels and improvement in insulin resistance at 1 and 3 months after gastric bypass. Obes. Surg. 16, 1359–64.
- Ramzy, A.R., Nausheen, S., Chelikani, P.K., 2014. Ileal transposition surgery produces ileal length-dependent changes in food intake, body weight, gut hormones and glucose metabolism in rats. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 38, 379– 87.
- Reaven, G.M., 1988. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 37, 1595–607.
- Rizzello, M., Abbatini, F., Casella, G., Alessandri, G., Fantini, A., Leonetti, F., Basso, N., 2010. Early postoperative insulin-resistance changes after sleeve gastrectomy. Obes. Surg. 20, 50–5.
- Rodrigues, L., Crisóstomo, J., Matafome, P., Louro, T., Nunes, E., Seiça, R., 2011. Dietary restriction improves systemic and muscular oxidative stress in type 2 diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. J. Physiol. Biochem. 67, 613–9.
- Romero, F., Nicolau, J., Flores, L., Casamitjana, R., Ibarzabal, A., Lacy, A., Vidal, J., 2012. Comparable early changes in gastrointestinal hormones after sleeve gastrectomy and Roux-En-Y gastric bypass surgery for morbidly obese type 2 diabetic subjects. Surg. Endosc. 26, 2231–9.
- Rubino, F., Forgione, A., Cummings, D.E., Vix, M., Gnuli, D., Mingrone, G., Castagneto, M., Marescaux, J., 2006. The mechanism of diabetes control after gastrointestinal bypass surgery reveals a role of the proximal small intestine in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Ann. Surg. 244, 741–9.
- Rubino, F., Gagner, M., Gentileschi, P., Kini, S., Fukuyama, S., Feng, J., Diamond, E., 2004. The Early Effect of the Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass on Hormones Involved in Body Weight Regulation and Glucose Metabolism. Ann. Surg. 240, 236–242.

- Rubino, F., Marescaux, J., 2004. Effect of duodenal-jejunal exclusion in a nonobese animal model of type 2 diabetes: a new perspective for an old disease. Ann. Surg. 239, 1–11.
- Rubino, F., Zizzari, P., Tomasetto, C., Bluet-Pajot, M.-T., Forgione, A., Vix, M., Grouselle, D., Marescaux, J., 2005. The role of the small bowel in the regulation of circulating ghrelin levels and food intake in the obese Zucker rat. Endocrinology 146, 1745–51.
- Saeidi, N., Meoli, L., Nestoridi, E., Gupta, N.K., Kvas, S., Kucharczyk, J., Bonab, A.A., Fischman, A.J., Yarmush, M.L., Stylopoulos, N., 2013. Reprogramming of intestinal glucose metabolism and glycemic control in rats after gastric bypass. Science 341, 406–10.
- Salehi, A., Dornonville de la Cour, C., Håkanson, R., Lundquist, I., 2004. Effects of ghrelin on insulin and glucagon secretion: a study of isolated pancreatic islets and intact mice. Regul. Pept. 118, 143–50.
- Salehi, M., Gastaldelli, A., D'Alessio, D.A., 2014. Blockade of Glucagon-like Peptide 1 Receptor Corrects Postprandial Hypoglycemia After Gastric Bypass. Gastroenterology 146, 669–680.e2.
- Salehi, M., Prigeon, R.L., D'Alessio, D.A., 2011. Gastric bypass surgery enhances glucagon-like peptide 1-stimulated postprandial insulin secretion in humans. Diabetes 60, 2308–14.
- Samat, A., Malin, S.K., Huang, H., Schauer, P.R., Kirwan, J.P., Kashyap, S.R., 2013. Ghrelin suppression is associated with weight loss and insulin action following gastric bypass surgery at 12 months in obese adults with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. Obes. Metab. 15, 963–6.
- Samols, E., Marks, V., 1967. [New conceptions on the functional significance of glucagon (pancreatic and extra-pancreatic)]. Journ. Annu. Diabetol. Hotel. Dieu. 7, 43–66.
- Samols, E., Marri, G., Marks, V., 1965. Promotion of insulin secretion by glucagon. Lancet 2, 415–6.
- Samols, E., Tyler, J., Megyesi, C., Marks, V., 1966. Immunochemical glucagon in human pancreas, gut, and plasma. Lancet 2, 727–9.
- Santoro, S., Malzoni, C.E., Velhote, M.C.P., Milleo, F.Q., Santo, M. a, Klajner, S., Damiani, D., Maksoud, J.G., 2006. Digestive Adaptation with Intestinal Reserve: a neuroendocrine-based operation for morbid obesity. Obes. Surg. 16, 1371–9.

- Santoro, S., Milleo, F.Q., Malzoni, C.E., Klajner, S., Borges, P.C.M., Santo, M.A., Campos, F.G., Artoni, R.F., 2008. Enterohormonal changes after digestive adaptation: five-year results of a surgical proposal to treat obesity and associated diseases. Obes. Surg. 18, 17–26.
- Sarson, D.L., Scopinaro, N., Bloom, S.R., 1981. Gut hormone changes after jejunoileal (JIB) or biliopancreatic (BPB) bypass surgery for morbid obesity. Int. J. Obes. 5, 471–80.
- Schauer, P.R., Kashyap, S.R., Wolski, K., Brethauer, S.A., Kirwan, J.P., Pothier, C.E., Thomas, S., Abood, B., Nissen, S.E., Bhatt, D.L., 2012. Bariatric surgery versus intensive medical therapy in obese patients with diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 366, 1567–76.
- Schjoldager, B., Mortensen, P.E., Myhre, J., Christiansen, J., Holst, J.J., 1989. Oxyntomodulin from distal gut. Role in regulation of gastric and pancreatic functions. Dig. Dis. Sci. 34, 1411–9.
- Scopinaro, N., 2006. Biliopancreatic diversion: mechanisms of action and longterm results. Obes. Surg. 16, 683–9.
- Scopinaro, N., Adami, G.F., Marinari, G.M., Gianetta, E., Traverso, E.,
   Friedman, D., Camerini, G., Baschieri, G., Simonelli, A., 1998.
   Biliopancreatic diversion. World J. Surg. 22, 936–46.
- Scopinaro, N., Adami, G.F., Papadia, F.S., Camerini, G., Carlini, F., Briatore, L., D'Alessandro, G., Parodi, C., Weiss, A., Andraghetti, G., Catalano, M., Cordera, R., 2011. The effects of biliopancreatic diversion on type 2 diabetes mellitus in patients with mild obesity (BMI 30-35 kg/m2) and simple overweight (BMI 25-30 kg/m2): a prospective controlled study. Obes. Surg. 21, 880–8.
- Seiça, R.M., Martins, M.J., Pessa, P.B., Santos, R.M., Rosário, L.M. do, Suzuki, K.I., Martins, M.I., 2003a. [Morphological changes of islet of Langerhans in an animal model of type 2 diabetes]. Acta Med. Port. 16, 381–8.
- Seiça, R.M., Suzuki, K.I., Santos, R.M., Do Rosário, L.M., 2003b. [Impaired insulin secretion in isolated islets of Goto-Kakizaki rats, an animal model of non obese type 2 diabetes, is a primary event]. Acta Med. Port. 17, 42–8.
- Seppälä-Lindroos, A., Vehkavaara, S., Häkkinen, A.-M., Goto, T., Westerbacka, J., Sovijärvi, A., Halavaara, J., Yki-Järvinen, H., 2002. Fat accumulation in the liver is associated with defects in insulin suppression of glucose production and serum free fatty acids independent of obesity in normal men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 3023–8.

- Shin, A.C., Zheng, H., Townsend, R.L., Sigalet, D.L., Berthoud, H.-R., 2010. Meal-induced hormone responses in a rat model of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery. Endocrinology 151, 1588–97.
- Shrestha, Y.B., Wickwire, K., Giraudo, S.Q., 2009. Direct effects of nutrients, acetylcholine, CCK, and insulin on ghrelin release from the isolated stomachs of rats. Peptides 30, 1187–91.
- Shyangdan, D.S., Royle, P.L., Clar, C., Sharma, P., Waugh, N.R., 2010. Glucagon-like peptide analogues for type 2 diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Endocr. Disord. 10, 20.
- Silecchia, G., Boru, C., Pecchia, A., Rizzello, M., Casella, G., Leonetti, F., Basso, N., 2006. Effectiveness of laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy (first stage of biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch) on co-morbidities in super-obese high-risk patients. Obes. Surg. 16, 1138–44.
- Sjöström, L., Lindroos, A.-K., Peltonen, M., Torgerson, J., Bouchard, C., Carlsson, B., Dahlgren, S., Larsson, B., Narbro, K., Sjöström, C.D., Sullivan, M., Wedel, H., 2004. Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 2683–93.
- Sjöström, L., Narbro, K., Sjöström, C.D., Karason, K., Larsson, B., Wedel, H., Lystig, T., Sullivan, M., Bouchard, C., Carlsson, B., Bengtsson, C., Dahlgren, S., Gummesson, A., Jacobson, P., Karlsson, J., Lindroos, A.-K., Lönroth, H., Näslund, I., Olbers, T., Stenlöf, K., Torgerson, J., Agren, G., Carlsson, L.M.S., 2007. Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. N. Engl. J. Med. 357, 741–52.
- Smith, S., Edwards, C., Goodman, G., 1996. Changes in Diabetic Management After Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass. Obes. Surg. 6, 345–348.
- Solomon, T.P.J., Haus, J.M., Kelly, K.R., Rocco, M., Kashyap, S.R., Kirwan, J.P., 2010. Improved pancreatic beta-cell function in type 2 diabetic patients after lifestyle-induced weight loss is related to glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide. Diabetes Care 33, 1561–6.
- Speck, M., Cho, Y.M., Asadi, A., Rubino, F., Kieffer, T.J., 2011. Duodenaljejunal bypass protects GK rats from {beta}-cell loss and aggravation of hyperglycemia and increases enteroendocrine cells coexpressing GIP and GLP-1. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 300, E923–32.
- Srinivasan, K., Ramarao, P., 2007. Animal models in type 2 diabetes research: an overview. Indian J. Med. Res. 125, 451–72.

- Strader, A.D., Clausen, T.R., Goodin, S.Z., Wendt, D., 2009. Ileal interposition improves glucose tolerance in low dose streptozotocin-treated diabetic and euglycemic rats. Obes. Surg. 19, 96–104.
- Strader, A.D., Vahl, T.P., Jandacek, R.J., Woods, S.C., D'Alessio, D. a, Seeley, R.J., 2005. Weight loss through ileal transposition is accompanied by increased ileal hormone secretion and synthesis in rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 288, E447–53.
- Stylopoulos, N., Davis, P., Pettit, J.D., Rattner, D.W., Kaplan, L.M., 2005. Changes in serum ghrelin predict weight loss after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in rats. Surg. Endosc. 19, 942–6.
- Sun, D., Liu, S., Zhang, G., Chen, W., Yan, Z., Hu, S., 2012. Type 2 Diabetes Control in a Nonobese Rat Model Using Sleeve Gastrectomy with Duodenal-Jejunal Bypass (SGDJB). Obes. Surg. 22, 1865–73.
- Sun, D., Wang, K., Yan, Z., Zhang, G., Liu, S., Liu, F., Hu, C., Hu, S., 2013. Duodenal-jejunal bypass surgery up-regulates the expression of the hepatic insulin signaling proteins and the key regulatory enzymes of intestinal gluconeogenesis in diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats. Obes. Surg. 23, 1734–42.
- Sundbom, M., Holdstock, C., Engström, B.E., Karlsson, F.A., 2007. Early changes in ghrelin following Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: influence of vagal nerve functionality? Obes. Surg. 17, 304–10.
- Suzuki, S., Ramos, E.J.B., Goncalves, C.G., Chen, C., Meguid, M.M., 2005. Changes in GI hormones and their effect on gastric emptying and transit times after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in rat model. Surgery 138, 283–90.
- Taminato, T., Seino, Y., Goto, Y., Inoue, Y., Kadowaki, S., 1977. Synthetic gastric inhibitory polypeptide. Stimulatory effect on insulin and glucagon secretion in the rat. Diabetes 26, 480–4.
- Tatemoto, K., 1982. Isolation and characterization of peptide YY (PYY), a candidate gut hormone that inhibits pancreatic exocrine secretion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 79, 2514–8.
- Tatemoto, K., Carlquist, M., Mutt, V., 1982. Neuropeptide Y--a novel brain peptide with structural similarities to peptide YY and pancreatic polypeptide. Nature 296, 659–60.
- Tatemoto, K., Mutt, V., 1980. Isolation of two novel candidate hormones using a chemical method for finding naturally occurring polypeptides. Nature 285, 417–8.

- The Look AHEAD Research Group, 2014. Eight-year weight losses with an intensive lifestyle intervention: the look AHEAD study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 22, 5–13.
- Tilg, H., Moschen, A.R., 2014. Microbiota and diabetes: an evolving relationship. Gut.
- Tinoco, A., El-Kadre, L., Aquiar, L., Tinoco, R., Savassi-Rocha, P., 2011. Shortterm and mid-term control of type 2 diabetes mellitus by laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy with ileal interposition. World J. Surg. 35, 2238–44.
- Tong, J., Prigeon, R.L., Davis, H.W., Bidlingmaier, M., Kahn, S.E., Cummings, D.E., Tschöp, M.H., D'Alessio, D., 2010. Ghrelin suppresses glucosestimulated insulin secretion and deteriorates glucose tolerance in healthy humans. Diabetes 59, 2145–51.
- Toshinai, K., Mondal, M.S., Nakazato, M., Date, Y., Murakami, N., Kojima, M., Kangawa, K., Matsukura, S., 2001. Upregulation of Ghrelin expression in the stomach upon fasting, insulin-induced hypoglycemia, and leptin administration. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 281, 1220–5.
- Tritos, N.A., Mun, E., Bertkau, A., Grayson, R., Maratos-Flier, E., Goldfine, A., 2003. Serum ghrelin levels in response to glucose load in obese subjects post-gastric bypass surgery. Obes. Res. 11, 919–24.
- Trung, V.N., Yamamoto, H., Yamaguchi, T., Murata, S., Akabori, H., Ugi, S., Maegawa, H., Tani, T., 2013. Effect of sleeve gastrectomy on body weight, food intake, glucose tolerance, and metabolic hormone level in two different rat models: Goto-Kakizaki and diet-induced obese rat. J. Surg. Res. 185, 159–65.
- Tschöp, M., Smiley, D.L., Heiman, M.L., 2000. Ghrelin induces adiposity in rodents. Nature 407, 908–13.
- Tschöp, M., Weyer, C., Tataranni, P. a, Devanarayan, V., Ravussin, E., Heiman, M.L., 2001. Circulating ghrelin levels are decreased in human obesity. Diabetes 50, 707–9.
- Tsoli, M., Chronaiou, A., Kehagias, I., Kalfarentzos, F., Alexandrides, T.K., 2013. Hormone changes and diabetes resolution after biliopancreatic diversion and laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy: a comparative prospective study. Surg. Obes. Relat. Dis. 667–77.
- Turner, D.S., Shabaan, A., Etheridge, L., Marks, V., 1973. The effect of an intestinal polypeptide fraction on insulin release in the rat in vitro and in vivo. Endocrinology 93, 1323–8.

- Turton, M.D., O'Shea, D., Gunn, I., Beak, S.A., Edwards, C.M., Meeran, K., Choi, S.J., Taylor, G.M., Heath, M.M., Lambert, P.D., Wilding, J.P., Smith, D.M., Ghatei, M.A., Herbert, J., Bloom, S.R., 1996. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. Nature 379, 69–72.
- Umeda, L.M., Silva, E. a, Carneiro, G., Arasaki, C.H., Geloneze, B., Zanella, M.T., 2011. Early improvement in glycemic control after bariatric surgery and its relationships with insulin, GLP-1, and glucagon secretion in type 2 diabetic patients. Obes. Surg. 21, 896–901.
- Unger, R.H., 1985. Glucagon physiology and pathophysiology in the light of new advances. Diabetologia 28, 574–8.
- Unger, R.H., Orci, L., 1975. The essential role of glucagon in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. Lancet 1, 14–6.
- Unick, J.L., Beavers, D., Bond, D.S., Clark, J.M., Jakicic, J.M., Kitabchi, A.E., Knowler, W.C., Wadden, T.A., Wagenknecht, L.E., Wing, R.R., 2013. The long-term effectiveness of a lifestyle intervention in severely obese individuals. Am. J. Med. 126, 236–42, 242.e1–2.
- Unick, J.L., Beavers, D., Jakicic, J.M., Kitabchi, A.E., Knowler, W.C., Wadden, T.A., Wing, R.R., 2011. Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions for individuals with severe obesity and type 2 diabetes: results from the Look AHEAD trial. Diabetes Care 34, 2152–7.
- Utzschneider, K.M., Kahn, S.E., 2006. Review: The role of insulin resistance in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 4753–61.
- Valderas, J.P., Irribarra, V., Boza, C., de la Cruz, R., Liberona, Y., Acosta, A.M., Yolito, M., Maiz, A., 2010. Medical and surgical treatments for obesity have opposite effects on peptide YY and appetite: a prospective study controlled for weight loss. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 1069–75.
- Van Hecke, T., 2010. Power study of anova versus Kruskal-Wallis test. Interstat 1–6.
- Vencio, S., Stival, A., Halpern, A., Depaula, C.C.L., DePaula, A.L., 2011. Early mechanisms of glucose improvement following laparoscopic ileal interposition associated with a sleeve gastrectomy evaluated by the euglycemic hyperinsulinemic clamp in type 2 diabetic patients with BMI below 35. Dig. Surg. 28, 293–8.
- Vidal, J., Jiménez, A., 2013. Diabetes remission following metabolic surgery: is GLP-1 the culprit? Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 15, 357.

- Weng, S.-G., Zhang, B., Feng, S., Xu, C.-G., Lin, C.-Z., 2013. Effects of modified biliopancreatic diversion on glucose tolerance of GK rats. Obes. Surg. 23, 522–30.
- Wickremesekera, K., Miller, G., Naotunne, T.D., Knowles, G., Stubbs, R.S., 2005. Loss of insulin resistance after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass surgery: a time course study. Obes. Surg. 15, 474–81.
- Wierup, N., Sundler, F., Heller, R.S., 2014. The islet ghrelin cell. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 52, R35–49.
- Wierup, N., Svensson, H., Mulder, H., Sundler, F., 2002. The ghrelin cell: a novel developmentally regulated islet cell in the human pancreas. Regul. Pept. 107, 63–9.
- Wilson-Pérez, H.E., Chambers, A.P., Ryan, K.K., Li, B., Sandoval, D.A., Stoffers, D., Drucker, D.J., Pérez-Tilve, D., Seeley, R.J., 2013. Vertical sleeve gastrectomy is effective in two genetic mouse models of glucagonlike Peptide 1 receptor deficiency. Diabetes 62, 2380–5.
- Wren, A.M., Seal, L.J., Cohen, M.A., Brynes, A.E., Frost, G.S., Murphy, K.G., Dhillo, W.S., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 2001. Ghrelin enhances appetite and increases food intake in humans. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 5992– 5995.
- Wren, A.M., Small, C.J., Ward, H.L., Murphy, K.G., Dakin, C.L., Taheri, S., Kennedy, A.R., Roberts, G.H., Morgan, D.G., Ghatei, M.A., Bloom, S.R., 2000. The novel hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretion. Endocrinology 141, 4325–8.
- Wynne, K., Park, A.J., Small, C.J., Meeran, K., Ghatei, M.A., Frost, G.S., Bloom, S.R., 2006. Oxyntomodulin increases energy expenditure in addition to decreasing energy intake in overweight and obese humans: a randomised controlled trial. Int. J. Obes. (Lond). 30, 1729–36.
- Wynne, K., Park, A.J., Small, C.J., Patterson, M., Ellis, S.M., Murphy, K.G., Wren, A.M., Frost, G.S., Meeran, K., Ghatei, M. a, Bloom, S.R., 2005. Subcutaneous oxyntomodulin reduces body weight in overweight and obese subjects: a double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Diabetes 54, 2390–5.
- Xu, E., Kumar, M., Zhang, Y., Ju, W., Obata, T., Zhang, N., Liu, S., Wendt, A., Deng, S., Ebina, Y., Wheeler, M.B., Braun, M., Wang, Q., 2006. Intra-islet insulin suppresses glucagon release via GABA-GABAA receptor system. Cell Metab. 3, 47–58.

- Yan, Z., Chen, W., Liu, S., Zhang, G., Sun, D., Hu, S., 2012. Myocardial insulin signaling and glucose transport are up-regulated in Goto-Kakizaki type 2 diabetic rats after ileal transposition. Obes. Surg. 22, 493–501.
- Yip, S., Plank, L.D., Murphy, R., 2013. Gastric bypass and sleeve gastrectomy for type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of outcomes. Obes. Surg. 23, 1994–2003.
- Zhang, G.Y., Wang, T.T., Cheng, Z.Q., Feng, J.B., Hu, S.Y., 2011. Resolution of diabetes mellitus by ileal transposition compared with biliopancreatic diversion in a nonobese animal model of type 2 diabetes. Can. J. Surg. 54, 243–51.
- Zhang, N., Maffei, A., Cerabona, T., Pahuja, A., Omana, J., Kaul, A., 2013. Reduction in obesity-related comorbidities: is gastric bypass better than sleeve gastrectomy? Surg. Endosc. 27, 1273–80.
- Zhou, H., Zhang, T., Harmon, J.S., Bryan, J., Robertson, R.P., 2007. Zinc, not insulin, regulates the rat alpha-cell response to hypoglycemia in vivo. Diabetes 56, 1107–12.